DIFFERENTIATING BETWEEN HEPARIN-INDUCED THROMBOCYTOPENIA AND VACCINE-INDUCED THROMBOTIC THROMBOCYTOPENIA ANTIBODY EPITOPES ON PF4

By: MERCY DAKA, B.Sc. (Hon.)

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements

for the Degree Master of Science

McMaster University

© Copyright by Mercy Daka, November 2022

M.Sc. Thesis - M. Daka, McMaster University - Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences

MASTER OF SCIENCE (2022)

McMaster University

(Biochemistry and Biomedical Sciences)

Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: Differentiating Between Heparin-induced Thrombocytopenia and Vaccine-induced Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia Antibody epitopes on PF4

AUTHOR: Mercy Daka, B.Sc. (Hon.) (University of Toronto)

SUPERVISOR: Dr. Ishac Nazy

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE: Dr. Donald M. Arnold, Dr. Matthew Miller

NUMBER OF PAGES: ci, 101

ABSTRACT: Introduction:

Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT) is a potentially life-threatening adverse event that occurs in approximately 5% of patients following heparin administration to prevent clotting during cardiac as well as orthopedic surgeries, kidney dialyses and blood transfusions. HIT is mediated by antibodies that bind complexes of platelet factor 4 (PF4 or CXCL4) and heparin that cross-link Fc receptors on platelets to cause platelet activation, thrombocytopenia with or without thrombosis, potentially leading to death. Recently, a new anti-PF4 disorder has emerged in response to COVID-19 adenoviral-vector based vaccines against SARS-CoV-2 known as vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT). VITT is a rare but serious adverse syndrome reported 5-30 days after administration of a COVID-19 adenoviral vector vaccine (Oxford-AstraZeneca ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AZ) and Johnson & Johnson/Janssen (J&J/Janssen)) and is characterized by thrombocytopenia and thrombosis in unusual locations, including cerebral sinus venous thrombosis (CVST). HIT and VITT are characterized by platelet-activating antibodies that bind to PF4 and often lead to thrombocytopenia and/or thrombosis. There are two types of platelet-activating antibodies that lead to HIT, antibodies that activate platelets only in the presence of heparin (heparin-dependent (HD)) and antibodies that can activate platelets in the absence of heparin (heparin-independent (HI)). In VITT, the two types of platelet-activating antibodies are ones that only activate platelets in the presence of PF4 (PF4-dependent) and antibodies that can activate platelets in the absence of PF4 (PF4-independent). We hypothesize that the binding sites of HIT and VITT antibodies on PF4 differ and that identifying these sites could be relevant to differentiate between both anti-PF4 disorders.

Methods:

All 70 PF4 mutants produced by alanine-scanning mutagenesis (ASM) were expressed and purified from *E. coli* BL21 (DE3) cells. ASM was performed using HIT (n=10) and VITT (n=14) patient samples to determine the binding sites of HIT and VITT antibodies on PF4. Clinical outcomes of CVST, DVT, PE incidences in VITT patients with PF4-dependent and PF4-independent antibodies were also analyzed. In addition, ASM was performed on the HIT-mimicking monoclonal antibodies (1E12, 1C12, 2E1, P4B1, P3D4, P3E10) to confirm the pathogenic antibody binding sites of HIT antibodies on PF4. Finally, all 70 PF4 mutants were screened against HIT (n=22), VITT (n=9) and non-HIT (n=12) patient samples and we identified 10 PF4 mutants that differentiate between HIT and VITT using an EIA.

Results:

We confirmed all 70 PF4 mutants were free of contaminants compared to bacterial lysate by visualizing the purity using gel electrophoresis. Using a cut-off of 50% or greater reduction in antibody binding to PF4 mutants compared to wild-type PF4, we determined that most monoclonal antibodies that mimic platelet-activating HIT antibodies, as well as antibodies purified from HIT patients bind to a site on PF4 like the KKO site, a known monoclonal antibody against PF4/heparin complexes that mimics platelet-activating HIT antibodies. While most VITT antibodies recognize a site on PF4 overlapping the heparin-binding site, we found a subset of VITT patients have antibodies that recognize an additional site on PF4 that is like the KKO site. By observing the incidences of clinical thrombotic characteristics in VITT patients, it was determined that CVST (6/14, 42.9%), DVT (4/14, 28.6%), and PE (4/14, 28.6%) were the most common types of thrombosis. This unusually high incidence of VITT is not typically seen in HIT. Information on the binding characteristics that can help differentiate between HIT and VITT. After screening the 70

PF4 mutants against HIT and VITT patient samples, we then identified 10 PF4 mutants (H23A, R20A, T25A, E28A, K46A, R49A, K50A, K62A, K65A, K66A) that help differentiate between HIT and VITT in an EIA. We also screened the 70 PF4 mutants against non-HIT patients, identified as individuals that have non-platelet activating anti-PF4/heparin antibodies. We found that 5 PF4 mutants (K14A, H23A, V29A, T38A, K50A, K66A) help differentiate HIT from non-HIT in an EIA.

Conclusion:

Purifying PF4 mutants reduced background reactivity likely caused by contaminants in assays using bacterial lysate. ASM using PF4 mutants revealed that there are 2 distinct binding sites on PF4 that are recognized by either HI and HD HIT or anti-PF4 VITT antibodies. We confirmed that the molecular characteristics of antibodies from VITT and HIT patients dictate the platelet activation profiles in these disorders and can be used to separate VITT from HIT antibodies in the EIA.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS:

The work described in this thesis was completed at the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory. Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors, Dr. Ishac Nazy and Dr. Donald M. Arnold and Dr. John G. Kelton for allowing me the opportunity to work under their tutelage as a graduate student in the lab. Your patience and continuous encouragement have helped me to learn through many various hurdles and likewise accomplishments experienced over the course of my project. I would like to thank my supervisory committee member, Dr. Matthew S. Miller who's contribution was invaluable to my research.

I am also very grateful to all members of the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory for their support, being inclusive and for having created a pleasant and enjoyable work environment. A special thanks also goes to Rumi Care, James W. Smith, and Taylor D. Elliot for aiding me in one way or another throughout the time it took to express, purify, and run the gels of 70 proteins. Your contributions made what seem like an ordeal much more achievable and indeed, a very memorable one.

Finally, I would also like to thank Dr. John Vrbensky who agreed to proofread my work. I also thank my family and friends for their support and encouraging me to work hard and enjoy the failures as much as the successes. Thank you for your constant reminders that new beginnings will always lead to better ends.

Table of Contents:	
TITLE PAGE	Error! Bookmark not defined.
DESCRIPTIVE NOTE	Error! Bookmark not defined.
ABSTRACT:	
LIST OF FIGURES:	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS:	
DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT	
1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Platelets	
1.1.1 Production and Function	
1.2 Platelet factor 4 (PF4)	
 1.3 Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia	17 17 19 20 19 20 10 10 19 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20
2.1 Overall Objective	
2.2 Rationale	
2.3 Hypothesis	Error! Bookmark not defined.
2.4 Specific Objectives	
3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Patient demographics for VITT and HIT testin	g31
3.2 Immunoassays for the Detection of anti-PF4 A Antibodies	ntibodies and anti-PF4/heparin
3.3 Functional Platelet Activation Assays	

	3.4	Epitope mapping VITT and HIT antibodies binding to PF4	32
	3.5	Vector construct of recombinant PF4 and cell growth	33
	3.6	Expression of wildtype PF4 and recombinant PF4 mutants	33
	3.7	Purification of wildtype PF4	34
	3.8	Purification of recombinant PF4 mutants	35
	3.9 3.9.1 3.9.2 3.9.3 3.9.4	 Affinity purification of anti-PF4 antibodies from HIT and non-HIT patients Patient demographics: Total IgG purification: PF4 Column to elute heparin-independent (HI) HIT antibodies: PF4/heparin column to elute heparin-dependent (HD)HIT antibodies: 	36 36 36 38 38
	3.10 mutant	Immunoassay to determine the binding of HIT and VITT antibodies against PF4 s	38
	3.11	Data Acquisition, statistical analysis, and reproducibility	39
4	RES	ULTS	40
	4.1 4.1.1	Expressing and purifying 70 PF4 mutants Expression and purification of PF4 mutants compared to bacterial lysate	40 40
	4.2 4.2.1 4.2.2	 Mapping the binding sites of HIT antibodies on PF4 Binding Sites of HIT antibodies on PF4 Binding Sites of antibodies from non-HIT patients on PF4 	41 46 47
	4.3 4.3.1 4.3.2 4.3.2 4.3.4	 Mapping the binding sites of pathogenic HIT monoclonal antibodies Testing the activity of 1E12, 1C12, and 2E1 in the EIA Pathogenic Binding Sites of monoclonal antibodies 1E12, 1C12, 2E1 on PF4 Testing activity of monoclonal antibodies P4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 in the EIA Pathogenic Binding sites of monoclonal antibodies P4B1, P3E10 and P3D4 on PF4 	41 41 42 4
	4.3.5 4.3.6 4.3.7 4.3.8 4.3.9 4.3.1	 Purifying total IgG antibodies from HIT sera:	44 45 47 48 49
	4.4	PF4 mutants that differentiate VITT from HIT	50
	4.5	PF4 mutants that differentiate VITT from non-HITError! Bookmark not define	ed.
	4.6 4.6.1	 PF4 mutants that differentiate HIT from non-HIT Visualizing the polar contacts of PF4 mutants that differentiate VITT from HIT Error! Bookmark not defined. 	51
	4.7	Statistical Analysis Error! Bookmark not define	ed.
5	DIS	CUSSION	52
	5.1	Modifying ASM using purified mutants compared to bacterial lysate	53

	5.2	Optimizing identification of VITT and HIT antibody binding sites on PF4	55
	5.3 antibo	Limitations while purifying and mapping heparin-independent and heparin-dependen dies from HIT patients	ıt 62
	5.4 define	Point mutations and their implications on the structure of PF4Error! Bookmark ned.	ıot
6	FIG	URES	67
7	LIS	T OF TABLES	85
R	EFERE	ENCES	95

LIST OF FIGURES:

Figure 1. SDS-PAGE showing the expression of PF4 mutants following induction with IPTG.

Figure 2. SDS-PAGE showing the expression of wildtype PF4 and PF4 mutants following induction with IPTG

Figure 3. SDS-PAGE following purification of rhPF4 from E. coli using affinity chromatography.

Figure 4. SDS-PAGE following purification of PF4 mutants from heparin columns using affinity chromatography.

Figure 5. Schematic diagram of steps involved in detecting PF4/heparin specific antibodies from HIT patients in an EIA.

Figure 6. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of HIT antibodies using alanine-scanning mutagenesis.

Figure 7. Binding of monoclonal Antibodies1E12, 1C12, 2E1 to PF4/heparin complexes in an Enzyme immunoassay.

Figure 8. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of monoclonal HIT antibodies 1E12, 1C12, and 2E1 using alanine-scanning mutagenesis.

Figure 9. Binding of monoclonal AntibodiesP4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 to PF4/heparin complexes in an enzyme immunoassay.

Figure 10. Statistical analysis of P4B1 from P3D4 and P3E10 at a concentration of 1.6 ug/mL in the EIA.

Figure 11. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of monoclonal HIT antibodies P4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 using alanine-scanning mutagenesis.

Figure 12. Schematic diagram of steps involved in isolating heparin-independent (HI) and heparin-dependent (HD) HIT antibodies from patient samples by method of affinity purification.

Figure 13. Representative SDS-PAGE showing affinity purified immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies from HIT patients.

Figure 14. Representative SDS-PAGE analysis of affinity purified heparin dependent (HD) and heparin independent (HI) specific antibodies from HIT patients.

Figure 15. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of heparindependent (HI) and heparin dependent (HD) and HIT antibodies using alanine-scanning mutagenesis.

Figure 16. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of VITT antibodies using alanine-scanning mutagenesis.

Figure 17. Selected PF4 mutants that differentiate VITT from HIT antibodies.

Figure 18. Selected PF4 mutants that differentiate HIT from non-HIT antibodies.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Key amino acids in PF4 for the binding of HIT antibodies (n=10).

Table 2. Yield of total IgG antibody and EIA testing results following affinity purification of HD and HI antibodies from HIT patient serum samples.

Table 3. Key amino acids in PF4 for the binding of VITT antibodies from 10 VITT patients.

Table 4. Clinical characteristics of PF4-dependent vs. PF4 independent VITT patient samples.

Table 5. Key amino acids in PF4 for the binding of PF4-independent VITT antibodies (n=4)

Table 6. PF4 mutants that affected binding of VITT, HIT and non-HIT antibodies in an EIA.

Table 7. Statistical analysis of PF4 mutants that distinguish VITT, HIT and non-HIT patients from each other.

Table 8. Standard EIA and SRA results of VITT patient samples against wild-type PF4 and PF4mutants.

Table 9. Standard SRA and EIA results of HIT patient samples against wild-type PF4 and PF4mutants.

Table 10. Standard SRA and EIA results of non-HIT patient samples against wild-type PF4 and PF4 mutants.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS:

Amp	Ampicillin
Anti-PF4/heparin	Antigenic PF4/heparin
ASM	Alanine scanning mutagenesis
ChAdOx1 nCoV-19	Astra Zeneca
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
°C	Celsius
CVST	Cerebral venous sinus thrombosis
CHL	Chloramphenicol
Da	Daltons
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid DOC Deoxycholic acid
DVT	Deep vein thrombosis
EIA	Enzyme immunoassav
E. coli	Escherichia coli
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GT	Glanzmann's thrombasthenia
HD	Heparin dependent
HI	Heparin independent
HIT	Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia
Hep Wash	Heparin Wash
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
IgM	Immunoglobulin M
IL-10	Interleukin 10
IVIg	Intravenous immune globulin
IPTĞ	Isopropyl -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside
Ad26.COV2.S	Johnson and Johnson, J&J
kDa	Kilodaltons
L	Litre
LB	Luria-Bertani
LMWH	Low molecular weight heparin
mAb	Monoclonal antibody
MW	Molecular weight
NETs	Neutrophil extracellular traps
PDB	Protein data bank
PEA	P-selection expression assay
PF4	Platelet factor 4
PF4-SRA	PF4-enhanced 14C serotonin release assay
PNPP	P-nitrophenylphosphate
PE	Pulmonary embolism
rhPF4	Recombinant human platelet factor 4
RT	Room Temperature
NaCl	Sodium Chloride
SN	Supernatant
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SRA	14C-serotonin release assay
	5

SD	Standard Deviation
TGF-β1	Transforming growth factor beta 1
UFH	Unfractionated heparin

DECLARATION OF ACADEMIC ACHIEVEMENT

Mercy Daka performed all the experiments described in this thesis under the supervision of Dr.

Ishac Nazy and Dr. Donald M. Arnold with the exception of the following:

- James W. Smith and Mercy Daka ran the SDS-PAGE gels to visualize the purity of PF4 mutants
- Rumi Clare and Mercy Daka biotinylated PF4 for use in binding assays against anti-PF4 antibodies and for affinity purification.
- Taylor D. Elliot and Mercy Daka expressed and purified PF4 mutants

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Platelets

1.1.1 Production and Function

Platelet biology is central to the understanding of thrombosis and thrombocytopenia. Platelets are small anucleate blood cells derived from megakaryocytes.¹ Platelets become activated when damage is instilled upon the endothelial cell layer, making them primarily involved in hemostasis, a process that refers to the initiation of blood coagulation.^{1,2} Upon activation, platelets change their shape from a distinct discoid shape and acquire a morphology with multiple filopodial projections.¹¹ At sites of endothelial injury, glycoprotein (GP) Iba receptors on the membrane of platelets interact with von Willebrand factor (VWF) to aggregate and form a fibrin network in order to prevent blood loss at the site of injury.¹⁻³ Platelets contain dense-granules that release high concentrations of cations (K+, Mg2+) and nucleotides, and they also contain α -granules that secrete procoagulant factors such as thromboxane A2, ADP and platelet factor 4 (PF4), which serve as strong stimulants that further promote platelet activation.^{2,4-6,7} The normal platelet count range in healthy individuals is between 150 x10⁹ to 400 x 10⁹ platelets per liter (L) of blood.^{2,4,5} Platelet activation must be tightly regulated, since too much can lead to clots and strokes that affect approximately 62,000 Canadians yearly, while too little can result in uncontrolled bleeding like Glanzmann's thrombasthenia (GT),^{8,9} a bleeding disorder that is characterized by a severe mucocutaneous bleeding due to defects in the platelet receptors for fibrinogen GP II/IIIba and GPIbIX.¹⁰ Another example is seen in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT), where the platelets of patients with HIT become activated in response to being administered the anticoagulant, heparin, this results in a paradoxical response caused by a drop in the platelet count which can cause a series of severe thromboembolic complications to arise.¹¹⁻¹³

1.2 Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia

1.2.1 Definition and Prevalence of HIT

HIT is an immune-mediated, prothrombotic, and potentially life-threatening disorder initiated by platelet-activating immunoglobin G (IgG) antibodies directed against PF4 or PF4/heparin.¹⁴⁻¹⁶ HIT occurs in 1-5% of patients that are exposed to intravenous heparin.¹⁷ Since its introduction in the 1920's as an effective anticoagulant for major surgeries, the clinical usage of heparin continued to increase until patients began to form severe complications post-surgery due to the formation and prevalence of pathogenic antibodies in HIT that were triggered by the use of heparin.^{11,12} The risk of thromboembolic events is greater than 50%, of which the mortality rate is 20%, and of those, 10% of patients suffer from major morbidities.¹⁵ The immune response in HIT is unique and unlike like the characteristic of a primary immune response, where typically immunoglobulin M (IgM) antibodies are predominant approximately 5-7 days after symptom onset, followed by a weaker response of IgG antibodies.^{18,19} HIT occurs 2-5 days following heparin treatment and is characterized by the rapid formation of immunoglobulin G without a preceding IgM.^{16,20} The predominant response of IgG antibodies that bind to PF4/heparin complexes in HIT can be detected as early as 4 days after drug exposure.^{21,22} Compared to other populations with persistent memory B cells, the memory B cells for anti-PF4/heparin IgG are lacking and become undetectable even after three to four months.^{23,41} Therefore, re-exposure to heparin does not guarantee the reoccurrence of HIT in patients. Once HIT is suspected, heparin treatment is stopped immediately and alternative anticoagulants that do not cross-react with HIT antibodies like lepirudin and argatroban are administered where available.²³ Using alternative anticoagulants may still increase bleeding risks and there is also increasing evidence of a subset of patients with platelet-activating anti-PF4/heparin antibodies that are autoantibody-like in that they recognize PF4 bound to platelets in the absence of heparin.²⁴ Therefore additional therapies like intravenous immune globulin (IVIg)

become necessary to treat patients with HIT.²⁵ IVIg is an alternative therapy that inhibits HIT antibody-mediated platelet activation by blocking platelet Fc receptors and is especially useful in treating patients with severe HIT that becomes complicated by thrombosis and thrombocytopenia.²⁵

1.2.2 Platelet factor 4 (PF4)

The pathophysiology of HIT involves an immune response triggered by antibodies that recognize platelet factor 4 (PF4), also known as chemokine ligand 4 (CXCL4). ^{26,27} PF4 is a cationic chemokine that is 7.8 kilodaltons (kDa) in its monomeric form and 32.0 kDa in its active, tetrameric form. ^{26,27 28} PF4 is one of the most abundant proteins stored in platelet α -granules and plays a dual role in inflammation and wound healing.³ These activities are mediated by its interactions with glycosaminoglycans, (GAG's), like heparin, that are negatively charged and lie on the platelet surface.^{3,29} PF4 is synthesized in megakaryocytes and makes up approximately 2% of the total protein in platelet α -granules.²⁶ PF4 is made of 70 amino acid residues and in its native, monomeric form, consists of a hydrophobic anti-parallel beta sheet domain. The C-terminal domain is amphipathic alpha helix containing four lysine residues and the N-terminus is divided into four domains where the first and fourth domains are located on the outer surface of PF4, while the second and third domains are located on the outer and inner surface of PF4.³⁰⁻³² Tetrameric PF4 exposes a ring of positive charges that is primarily attributable to the lysine residues and contributes to its attraction to negatively charged molecules that lie on the platelet surface. ³³ PF4 is also suspected of its role as a danger signal for the presence of pathogens due to its cationic charge with a high affinity for negatively charged polyanions that are expressed on the cell walls of gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria.^{24,34} High levels of PF4 are released into circulation upon platelet activation with $0.4-2\mu M$ found present in serum and as high as $280\mu M$ of PF4

tetramers being found within a clot.^{26,35-37} Mouse models have also investigated the role of PF4 in inflammation and found that a deficiency in PF4 protects mice from local tissue damage, suggesting that PF4 is an important mediator of local and remote tissue damage.²⁷ Following its local release into circulation, PF4 also plays an important role in serving as a chemoattractant for leukocytes like neutrophils. Neutrophils are innate immune cells that play a role in protection against microbial infection by trapping many microbes through DNA fibers known as neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs) in a process known as NETosis.^{38,39} During infection or inflammation, PF4 has shown to bind to NETs causing them to form neutrophil-platelet aggregates that can contribute to clot formation.⁴⁰ Of the various interactions that PF4 forms to contribute to clot formation, its interaction with blood thinners like heparin have proven to be life-threatening. Heparin is a polymer made up of linear disaccharide chains of glucosamine and uronic acid.⁴¹ There are two types of heparin derivatives that exist for clinical usage and also bind to PF4; these include unfractionated heparin (UFH) which ranges 3 to 30 kDa and low molecular weight heparin (LMWH) which ranges from 4.5 to 5 kDa.⁴² Many chemokines bind heparin and other glycosaminoglycans, however, PF4 is the most abundant and binds heparin with 10²-10³ fold higher affinity than other chemokines.³³ Heparin interacts with PF4 by binding among PF4 monomers and also by bridging PF4 tetramers to further stabilize them, this step is fundamental to change the conformation of PF4 and reveal the neoantigen in a disease phenomenon known as heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT).^{33,43}

1.2.3 Pathophysiology of HIT

Heparin helps to form large tetrameric complexes of PF4 through electrostatic attraction.¹⁴ This interaction leads to a conformational change that exposes neoepitopes on the surfaces of these PF4 complexes to which anti-PF4/heparin antibodies bind.⁴³ Prothrombotic mechanisms of HIT antibodies depend on Fc receptor (FcγRIIa) cell-mediated activation, where these antibodies bind to PF4/heparin (PF4/H) complexes to form immune complexes that then bind to and activate Fc receptors by crosslinking them. This results in platelet activation and leads to the release of more PF4 and enhanced platelet recruitment to the prothrombotic process.^{21,44}

1.2.4 Clinical Identification of HIT

Clinical features of HIT include individuals whose platelet counts decline by about 50% from their normal range within 5-10 days following heparin exposure.²³ In this thesis, we refer to non-HIT patients, as those suspected of having HIT based on their clinical symptoms and develop anti-PF4/heparin antibodies, yet test negative for platelet-activating antibodies in functional assays. Symptoms that diagnose HIT and can also distinguish between non-HIT patients and patients with HIT can be classified using the 4Ts perspective, a scaled clinical scoring system for HIT that is based on 4 typical features of HIT; these include the magnitude of thrombocytopenia, timing of thrombocytopenia, the occurrence of thrombosis, and the likelihood of other causes of thrombocytopenia seen in HIT-mimicking syndromes like cancer-associated disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC). ^{45,46} Once a patient is suspected of having HIT according to the 4Ts perspective, laboratory diagnostic assays are then implemented. The 4Ts clinical scoring system is useful at ruling out a diagnosis of HIT since a low 4Ts score represents a low probability (<2%) of the patients testing positive for platelet activation antibodies which is indicated by a sensitivity of 97.7%. By contrast, a high 4Ts score has a low probability of being of confirming HIT by a positive platelet activation test due to a low specificity of 32.9%.47

1.2.5 Laboratory Diagnosis of HIT

Enzyme immunoassays (EIAs) are the first tools involved in the initial diagnosis of HIT. EIAs capture and detect antigenic PF4/heparin (anti-PF4/heparin) antibodies in patients suspected of HIT.^{48,49} EIAs are limited with a low specificity of approximately 50% because, many patients treated with heparin produce antibodies against PF4/heparin but never get the disease. Therefore, the EIAs cannot differentiate between anti-PF4/heparin antibodies that are platelet-activating and cause disease from those that are non-platelet activating antibodies, which leads to false-positive results and disease overcall despite the patients not having HIT.^{48,50,51} This is because antibodies produced by HIT patients are poly-specific and have been shown to bind multiple sites on PF4, many of which are non-pathogenic and do not cause platelet activation or HIT.⁵² This limitation presents a challenge in using EIAs as a conclusive diagnostic tool since up to ~50% of patients receiving heparin risk developing anti-PF4/heparin antibodies but only 1-5% of these patients develop platelet-activating antibodies that lead to clinical HIT. ^{48,49} However, given the high mortality rates affecting 5-10% HIT patients, HIT should be suspected in any patient that receives heparin and develops thrombocytopenia.⁴⁹ Functional assays which include the heparin-induced platelet activation assay (HIPA) that visually assesses platelet aggregation at five minute intervals using an indirect light source,⁵³ p-selectin expression assay (PEA) that uses flow cytometry to measure the expression of P-selectin (CD62) on the surface of activated platelets⁵⁴ and ¹⁴Cserotonin release assay (SRA), which measures the release of serotonin from the dense granules of platelets once they are activated are necessary to confirm the platelet activating ability of antibodies in HIT diagnosis. 55 The 14C-serotonin release assay (SRA) is considered the gold standard laboratory test for HIT.⁵⁵ The SRA reports a diagnostic sensitivity of 95% and specificity of 95%, making it an accurate diagnostic assay for HIT. However, the SRA is limited by lack of availability since it is technically demanding and requires radioactive isotopes and specific platelet donors in addition to its high cost and long turnaround time.⁵⁵

1.2.6 Pathogenic and non-pathogenic HIT antibodies

HIT is characterized by pathogenic and non-pathogenic antibodies that bind to PF4 and heparin complexes, yet only pathogenic antibodies trigger platelet activation and increases the risk of thrombotic complications.^{56,57} Although HIT only occurs in 5% of heparin treated patients, up to 70% of patients treated with heparin can produce anti-PF4/heparin antibodies that are nonpathogenic and as a result, this can complicate diagnosis and lead to disease overcall.⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ An important characteristic that helps distinguish pathogenic HIT antibodies from non-pathogenic HIT antibodies is that pathogenic HIT antibodies strongly activate platelets at detectable levels in functional assays like the heparin-induced platelet activation assay (HIPA), p-selection expression assay (PEA) and ¹⁴C-serotonin release assay (SRA), while non-pathogenic antibodies do not cause platelet-activation. ⁵⁸ Although there is evidence of pathogenic antibodies that weakly activate platelets at levels that are insufficient to cause HIT, ^{50,58} here we refer to pathogenic HIT antibodies as a subset of strong platelet-activating, anti-PF4/heparin IgG that are likely to cause HIT.⁴⁷ A study on the HIT antibody characteristics determined that the pathogenic antibodies in HIT are effective at triggering normal platelets to produce procoagulant microparticles at levels that are comparable with other standard platelet agonists like thrombin and collagen, both of which also trigger platelet activation.⁶¹ These results could offer explanations on how pathogenic HIT antibodies lead to thrombotic complications observed in some HIT patients.^{61,62} Implications on why exposure to heparin causes the production of antibodies against PF4 have been attributed to immune dysregulation, a phenomenon that is evidenced by different levels of regulatory cytokines including interleukin-10 (IL-10) and transforming growth factor beta 1 (TGF- β 1), both of which have been observed at low levels in HIT patients compared to healthy controls.⁶³ A subset of autoantibodies in patients with clinical and laboratory features of HIT have since been recognized;^{24,64} however, these patients have anti-PF4/heparin antibodies that can strongly activate

platelets independent of heparin *in vitro*.^{24,64} Plausible explanations for this immune response in HIT that manifests in the absence of heparin can be attributed to glycosaminoglycans that are produced following orthopedic surgery or bacterial antigens that precede infection,^{34,65} both of which have been reported to bind to PF4 and are associated with anti-PF4/heparin antibody formation.^{33,66} This suggests that patients with HIT can have HD and HI antibodies against PF4.

1.2.7 Heparin independent and Heparin dependent antibodies that cause HIT

The antibodies in HIT patients are polyclonal and polyspecific in nature, this makes it difficult to determine whether there are any common epitopes on PF4 that contribute to the pathogenicity seen in HIT.^{32,67} A previous study by Greinacher et al recognized that there are two types of antibodies that cause platelet activation in HIT.²⁴ The first subset of HIT antibodies are defined as HD antibodies because, these antibodies bind to PF4 only as it is complexed with heparin to trigger platelet activation. Meanwhile, HI antibodies define those that can trigger platelet activation by binding to PF4 even in the absence of heparin. Previous work screening peptides of PF4 with patient sera showed that most HD HIT antibodies recognize a non-contiguous conformational epitope on PF4 when it binds to heparin.⁶⁸ Since then, HIT researchers have engineered murine-derived monoclonal antibodies like KKO, that display HIT-like activity.^{43,69} Like pathogenic HIT antibodies, KKO recognizes PF4/heparin complexes and promotes HD platelet-activation in vitro, therefore, as a monoclonal antibody, KKO serves as the standard to studying polyclonal human HIT antibodies.^{43,69} The use of KKO and alanine-scanning mutagenesis (ASM) have both proven to be useful tools in identifying the amino acids that comprise important binding sites on PF4.^{52,69} ASM is a form of site-directed mutagenesis that substitutes an original amino acid in a protein sequence to alanine, a non-bulky and neutral residue, to help determine the stability or function of a protein. Alanine residues in the original protein sequence are mutated to

valine.⁷⁰ Our previous work using the ASM method used 70 PF4 mutants to show that most HD and HI HIT antibodies recognize similar amino acids on PF4 that are found in the KKO site, although HI HIT antibodies recognized additional amino acids that are found in the VITT site on PF4.⁷¹ Studies on the different binding sites are important as they have led to the generation of more monoclonal antibodies that mimic those that cause HIT;⁷² however, further characterization of these antibodies is needed. A study by Vayne *et al* predicted the binding sites of the three murine monoclonal antibodies 1E12, 1C12, and 2E1 that resemble HI HIT antibodies in activating platelets and found that these sites differed but were close to the KKO binding site.⁷² The methods implemented in this study were done in silico (MAbTope method) through an online 3D modelling system that captured the docking of each monoclonal antibody to PF4. ⁷² Although such studies on monoclonal antibodies using online tools are useful models for studying the pathogenesis of HIT, these monoclonal antibodies need to be characterized further, hence the reason why we found it important that to use ASM with purified PF4 mutants as an important tool in identifying the binding sites of these monoclonal antibodies on PF4.

1.3 Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia

Vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) is a rare, yet serious prothrombotic syndrome that is linked to vaccines developed against severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), including the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (Oxford-AstraZeneca; AZ) and the Ad26.COV2.S vaccine (Johnson & Johnson; J&J).⁷³⁻⁷⁵ The frequencies of VITT are reportedly 1 per 90,000⁷⁶ to 1 per 260,000⁷⁷ doses of an AZ or J&J vaccine, respectively. Clinical features of VITT begin 5-10 days following primary vaccination, meanwhile clinical suspicion of VITT is largely based on commonly identified symptoms like cerebral venous and splanchnic vein thromboses.⁷⁵ Pathologically, the immunological mechanism of VITT resembles spontaneous

HIT.^{78,79} Spontaneous HIT was first described in 2008, in which the same adverse drug reaction in HIT was observed in patients despite the lack of previous heparin therapy.⁸⁰ It was recently confirmed that the presence of highly reactive anti-PF4 antibodies in patients with VITT are like anti-PF4 antibodies in spontaneous HIT,⁵² in that they are oligoclonal and likely recognize conserved sites on PF4 to cause platelet activation and thrombosis.^{71,79} Although VITT and HIT antibodies share a common antigen in PF4,⁸¹ we recently published evidence that the standard SRA used to diagnoses HIT with a high sensitivity of 100% had a poor sensitivity of 46.2% for VITT.⁸¹ This suggests that the functional assays used to diagnose HIT are insufficient in diagnosing VITT, owing to differences in the antibodies found in both disorders.

1.3.1 Anti-PF4 antibodies in VITT

The immune response in VITT has interesting features concerning the persistence of anti-PF4 VITT antibodies.⁸² For example, a recent study found that 72% of VITT patients remained positive for PF4 antibodies following a median of 105 days; in addition, patients relapsed at a rate of 12.6% and remained positive for anti-PF4 antibodies and low platelet counts.⁸³ The pathophysiological mechanism in VITT is currently unknown, however the proposed mechanism strongly resembles HIT in that VITT too, could also represent a misdirected antimicrobial response and immune dysregulation that could be contributing to HIT.^{33,63,84,80} It is well reported that administering heparin is a trigger of a misdirected immune response involving anti-PF4/heparin antibodies.^{33,63,84,80} In addition, surgeries, infection, or trauma can also stimulate the formation of anti-PF4/polyanion antibodies.^{85,86} VITT is proposed to develop when immune complexes of anti-PF4 IgG antibodies and PF4 are formed. ^{16,44} PF4 then interacts with platelet surface FcγRIIa receptors, triggering platelet activation.⁸⁷ Studies that have looked at characterizing VITT antibodies proposed that the presence of monoclonal and oligoclonal anti-PF4 antibodies mediate VITT and that these antibodies are variably inhibited by heparin from binding to PF4 in an EIA.⁷⁹ Furthermore, platelet-activating anti-PF4 antibodies in VITT are reported as high titer and clonally restricted.^{78,79} In order to further characterize the VITT antibodies, our group used ASM to identify amino acids on PF4 that are critical for VITT anti-PF4 antibody binding.⁷¹ We determined that anti-PF4 antibodies in VITT recognize amino acids that are also relevant for heparin binding to PF4.⁷¹ Such studies have major implications in treating VITT; since heparin often inhibits the binding of VITT antibodies, it could serve as an antidote in blocking the pathogenicity caused by antigen binding.⁷⁸ Anti-PF4 and crosslinking PF4 tetramers on their own, thereby changing the conformation of PF4 to reveal neoepitopes for other anti-PF4 antibodies to bind and activate platelets. Further work used biolayer interferometry (BLI) to support that VITT anti-PF4 antibodies have sufficient binding strength to form immune complexes and trigger platelet activation.^{88,89}

1.3.2 Laboratory Diagnosis of VITT

Official recommendations for the laboratory diagnosis of VITT involve assays that are also currently used to diagnose HIT because of their similar pathophysiologies.²⁷ The EIA has a low specificity for antibodies in HIT patients however, we recently reported three diagnostic immunoassays with high specificities in detecting VITT antibodies including a commercial anti-PF4/heparin IgG/A/M enzyme immunoassay (EIA, PF4 Enhanced; Immucor; specificity=95.6%), in-house IgG-specific anti-PF4 (specificity=96.5%) and anti-PF4/heparin-EIAs (specificity=97.4%).⁸¹ Initial evidence using the standard SRA that is used for HIT for VITT diagnosis showed that VITT antibody platelet activation was inhibited in the presence of heparin but became positive with the addition of PF4.²⁸ Therefore, the PF4-enhanced SRA is currently the

gold standard diagnostic test for VITT and is performed similarly to the standard SRA but uses exogenous PF4 rather than heparin.¹⁵ Deciphering the anti-PF4 antibodies that cause VITT has important advantages in studies involving similar diseases like spontaneous HIT since anti-PF4 antibodies can vary in binding locations as seen in studies on VITT.^{71,88}

2 RESEARCH OUTLINE

2.1.1 Overall Objective

The main objective of this study was to better understand the molecular role of antibodies in HIT and VITT and to develop a tool that could accurately diagnose and differentiate between anti-PF4 disorders.

2.1.2 Rationale

The main challenge in HIT stems from pathogenic antibodies that cause HIT as well as nonpathogenic antibodies that do not cause HIT, yet test as false-positive in screening diagnostic assays.^{49,58} Furthermore, these antibodies are polyclonal making it difficult to distinguish them by their affinity for PF4.^{24,71} Currently, the only measurable difference between pathogenic and nonpathogenic antibodies in HIT is the diagnostic ability that pathogenic antibodies have, in that they recognize PF4/heparin complexes to activate platelets, while non-pathogenic antibodies also recognize PF4/heparin complexes but do not activate platelets.^{90,91} Therefore, there is a pressing need to characterize the specific properties of pathogenic antibodies that mediate HIT.^{24,49,58,71} Previous studies have shown that there are two types of pathogenic HIT antibodies whose characteristics are important in the development of HIT,⁹² these include HD antibodies that recognize PF4 in the presence of heparin and HI antibodies that recognize PF4 independent of heparin.^{92,93}

Studies on HIT in the last 60 years have provided insights into a newly discovered disorder termed vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT).^{73-75,94} The anti-PF4 antibodies in VITT are like HI HIT antibodies in that they can activate platelets independent of heparin to lead to blood clots and other life-threatening thrombotic symptoms.^{64,79,80} HD and HI HIT antibodies and anti-PF4 VITT antibodies that activate platelets then lead to thrombosis/thrombocytopenia are central in HIT and VITT and the antibodies in both disorders display different platelet activation profiles

that are dictated by their binding sites on PF4.⁷¹ The platelet activation profile of VITT anti-PF4 antibodies display consistent platelet activation in the absence of heparin. Huynh et al previously studied the binding characteristics of pathogenic antibodies in HIT and another platelet-activating monoclonal antibody called KKO using the bacterial lysate of 70 PF4 mutants that were produced by performing ASM.⁵² The authors identified amino acids that were likely important for binding to KKO and HIT antibodies, however, there was a limitation on the number of HIT patients that could not be tested in the binding assays due to their background reactivity to bacterial lysate.⁵² To improve on this limitation, my aim was to modify the previous method that used bacterial lysate by purifying the 70 PF4 mutants. By testing the purified PF4 mutants in binding studies, we found that the binding sites of VITT antibodies on PF4 were restricted to eight surface amino acids, all of which are located within the heparin binding site, and that the binding of VITT antibodies was inhibited by heparin.⁷¹ I then used the PF4 mutants to determine the epitopes of six monoclonal antibodies to confirm that the differences in the epitopes dictate their platelet activation profiles. Furthermore, I purified HD antibodies and HI antibodies directly from HIT patient samples for the purpose of identifying their specific binding sites on PF4 to show that the previously identified epitopes correspond with the platelet activation profiles in HIT patients. By determining the most common PF4 mutants that affect the binding of HIT and VITT antibodies, I was then able to use ten PF4 mutants to develop an assay that can differentiate between HIT and VITT in an easy-touse and efficient assay. This work aims to improve diagnostic strategies to provide a better understanding on the clinical course of HIT and VITT based on the molecular characteristics identified and thereby allows us to develop a new diagnostic tool that could help differentiate between both anti-PF4 disorders. A good example of this assays' potential utility is the fact there are already preliminary indications that heparin may be a safe and valid treatment option for VITT

patients, whereas heparin can be fatal in HIT. Another advantage of using PF4 mutants to differentiate between platelet-activating anti-PF4 disorders in an EIA would mean shorter turnaround times and cost-efficiency, which would allow us to provide clinicians with faster and more reliable results for the appropriate treatment to be administered.

Hypothesis:

We hypothesize that the molecular characteristics in VITT and HIT antibodies dictate their platelet activation profiles and can be used to diagnose and differentiate between both anti-PF4 disorders.

2.1.3 Specific Objectives

- Identify the PF4 epitopes of the following monoclonal antibodies with HIT-like reactivity; 1E12, 1C12, 2E1, P4B1, P3D4, and P3E10
- Map the binding sites of HIT antibodies on PF4 and compare the similarities and/or differences with the epitopes of the monoclonal antibodies
- Map the epitopes of VITT anti-PF4 antibodies on PF4 and compare their similarities and/or differences from the HIT site and the epitopes of monoclonal antibodies on PF4 using patient samples.
- 4. Develop an assay that separates HIT from VITT using purified PF4 mutants.

3 MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Patient demographics for VITT and HIT testing

Blood samples used for these studies were obtained from suspected VITT and HIT patients who were referred for diagnostic testing at the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory. VITT diagnosis was confirmed based on a positive result (OD405-490nm \ge 0.45) in the commercially available EIA that detects antibodies of IgG/A/M classes [LIFECODES PF4 Enhanced assay; Immucor GTI Diagnostics]¹⁵, positive in the PF4-enhanced SRA (positive PF4-SRA, \ge 20% ¹⁴Cserotonin release), and no previous exposure to heparin^{19.} HIT diagnosis was confirmed based on a positive commercially available PF4-enhanced heparin dependent IgG/A/M-specific EIA and a positive SRA result (\ge 20% ¹⁴C-serotonin release). ⁹⁵

3.2 Immunoassays for the Detection of anti-PF4 Antibodies and anti-PF4/heparin Antibodies

Testing for IgG/A/M anti-PF4/heparin antibodies was performed using a commercially available EIA (LIFECODES PF4 Enhanced assay; Immucor GTI Diagnostics, Waukesha, WI, USA [positive optical density (OD)_{405nm} \geq 0.4]) as per the manufacturer's instructions.⁴⁸ Human recombinant PF4 used in our immunoassays, as well as our platelet functional assay, were purified in-house as previously described.⁵² Subsequently, an in-house IgG-specific anti-PF4-EIA and anti-PF4/heparin-EIA were performed on all samples as previously described.⁴⁸ Briefly, patient sera were incubated in 96-well Maxisorp plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) coated with 30 µg/mL recombinant PF4 (or with 30 µg/mL recombinant PF4 and 0.5 U/mL heparin [Pfizer, New York, NY, USA]) in bicarbonate buffer pH 9.6 overnight at 4°C. Plates were then washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS) with 0.05% Tween-20 then PBS alone and blocked in 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA; MilliporeSigma, St Louis, MO, USA) at room temperature for two hours. Plates were washed again followed by the addition of 1/50 dilutions of patient sera in PBS supplemented with 1% BSA in duplicate for one hour at room temperature. Bound human IgG antibodies were detected with alkaline phosphatase–conjugated goat antihuman IgG (Fc specific, Jackson ImmunoResearch Laboratories, Inc., West Grove, PA, USA) diluted 1/3000 in PBS supplemented with 1% BSA. After washing, 1 mg/mL *p*nitrophenylphosphate (*p*NPP; MilliporeSigma, St Louis, MO, USA) substrate was added and ODs were measured using a BioTek 800TS microplate reader at 405 nm to determine the presence of anti-PF4 or anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in patient sera (positive $OD_{405nm} \ge 0.45$). Results were reported as a percentage of binding relative to wild-type PF4 binding using the following formula:

% binding relative to
$$WT = \frac{(Abs405_{mutant} - Abs490_{mutant})}{(Abs_{wildtype PF4})} \times 100$$

3.3 Functional Platelet Activation Assays

All VITT patient samples were tested for platelet activation using the PF4-SRA which follows the method of the SRA but with exogenous PF4 added at increasing concentrations of 0, 25, 50, 100 µg/mL (positive $\geq 20\%$ ¹⁴C-serotonin release).^{50,96} All HIT patient samples were tested for platelet activation in the standard SRA in the presence of therapeutic (0.1-0.3 U/mL) and high (100 U/mL) doses of unfractionated heparin (Pfizer, New York, NY, USA) without exogenous PF4, as previously described.⁹⁷ Platelet activation was also assessed in a PF4/heparin-SRA, which tests blood samples in the presence of 0.5 U/mL unfractionated heparin and 10 µg/mL recombinant PF4.⁵¹ Each assay was performed with an anti-human CD32 Fc receptor-blocking monoclonal antibody (IV.3) to confirm FcγRIIa involvement in platelet activation.

3.4 Epitope mapping VITT and HIT antibodies binding to PF4

The binding of HIT Antibodies to wildtype PF4 and PF4 mutants was measured using a modified PF4/heparin IgG-specific EIA. ⁴⁸Streptavidin (10 μg/mL) was immobilized on a 384-

well microtiter plate (Immulon, Thermo Scientific Inc., Burlington, ON, CAN) overnight at 4 Celsius (°C). 1 IU/mL Biotinylated unfractionated heparin (UFH) was incubated with streptavidin for 1 hr. 5 μ g/mL of previously expressed library of 70 mutant PF4 proteins was added to each well of the plate to form mutant PF4/complexes. Either VITT or HIT sera at 1:50 dilution was then added to bind PF4/mutant complexes on the plate for 1 hr at RT. Following washing with PBS, the samples were incubated with alkaline phosphatase conjugated anti-mouse IgG or anti-human IgG for 1 hr at RT. The absorbance at a wavelength of 405 nm with a reference wavelength of 490nm was measured for 1 hour using a TECAN Sunrise plate reader (Tecan Group Ltd., Mannedorf, Switzerland) to assess binding of antibodies to wild-type PF4 and PF4 mutants.

3.5 Vector construct of recombinant PF4 and cell growth

Recombinant human PF4 (rh-PF4) was previously cloned into a pET22b expression vector.¹⁴ The pET22b-rhPF4 construct was also previously transformed into *E. coli* BL21(DE3) cells and a subset of these cells were stored in 50% glycerol at -80°C for long-term usage. ¹⁴ Overnight cultures of BL21(DE3) cells were prepared by growing cells from the glycerol stock in 25mL of Lysogeny Broth (LB) media supplemented with the antibiotics 100 μ g mL⁻¹ of ampicillin (AMP) and 100 μ g mL⁻¹ chloramphenicol (CHL) diluted 1:1000 in LB media and grown overnight at 37°C while shaking at 225 rpm.

3.6 Expression of wildtype PF4 and recombinant PF4 mutants

described 25mL overnight culture in 1 Litre flask of fresh LB media also supplemented with ampicillin (100 μ g mL⁻¹) and CHL (100 μ g mL⁻¹). The large-scale culture was incubated at 37°C with shaking at 225rpm for about 2 hours until the mid-exponential phase at OD_{600mn} reached 0.6 and then protein production was induced with 0.5M Isopropyl -D-1-thiogalactopyranoside

A large-scale expression was prepared by aliquoting a 1:50 dilution of the previously

(IPTG). Following induction by IPTG, the culture was grown for 3 more hours and then harvested by centrifugation at 4000 x g for 20 minutes; the cell pellets were resuspended in 20mL phosphate buffered saline (PBS) to repeat centrifugation and then frozen at -80°C.

3.7 Purification of wildtype PF4

Wildtype recombinant human PF4 (WT-rhPF4) was previously produced using the pET22b expression vector and then introduced into BL21 cell strain of *Escherichia coli* (E. *coli*).⁹⁸ An overnight culture of wildtype PF4 was grown in ~50mL of LB media supplemented with 100ug/mL of ampicillin. The overnight culture for WT-rhPF4 was diluted 1:50 in 1L of LB media and grown at a larger scale as previously described. Each E. coli cell pellet for WT-rhPF4 was lysed in 20mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.2), 400 mM sodium chloride, 1.4 mM β mercaptoethanol, 5% (v/v) glycerol, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100 (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and 0.5% (w/v) sodium deoxycholate (MilliporeSigma) with 2 mM MgCl2, 10 μ g ml-1 DNaseI (MilliporeSigma) and supplemented with an EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). The supernatant was then obtained by centrifugation at 40,000 x g for 40min at 4 °C before being filtered with a 0.2 µm filter (Pall Acrodisc, St. Laurent, QC, CAN) and applied onto a HiTrap Q HP column (Cytiva Life Sciences) that had been equilibrated with 20mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.2, 400 mM sodium chloride, 1.4 mM β-mercaptoethanol and 5% (v/v) glycerol at 4 °C. The flow-through from the Q HP column was then stored at 4 °C, overnight. The next day, the flowthrough was diluted 1:2 to yield a sodium chloride concentration of 200 mM with 20 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.2, 1.4 mM β-mercaptoethanol and 5% (v/v) glycerol, syringe-filtered with a 0.2um filter (Acrodisc) and then the diluted supernatant was loaded onto a HiTrap Heparin HP column (Cytiva Life Sciences). 0.5M sodium chloride was then run through the column to elute any contaminants. WT-rhPF4 was then eluted with a linear gradient from 0.7 to 2M sodium

34

chloride using the ÄKTA purification system (Marshall Scientific LLC). Multiple eluted fractions containing WT-rhPF4 were then pooled and concentrated using centrifugal filters (10K Amicon Ultra-15; Sigma). The concentration of PF4 was determined using a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Protein expression and purity was assessed for purified WT-rhPF4 using 18% SDS–PAGE.

3.8 Purification of recombinant PF4 mutants

Recombinant PF4 mutants were previously designed by mutating non-alanine amino acids in the wild-type PF4 sequence to alanine and cloned into pET22b expression vector and was introduced to the BL21 (DE3) cell strain for expression and purification. An overnight culture for each pET22b mutant PF4 construct was grown in ~50mL of Luria-Bertani (LB) media supplemented with 100ug/mL of ampicillin and 100ug/mL of chloramphenicol (CHL). The overnight culture for each recombinant mutant PF4 was diluted 1:50 in 1L of LB media and grown at a larger scale as previously described. Each E. coli cell pellet for each PF4 mutant was lysed in 20mM sodium phosphate buffer (pH 7.2), 400 mM sodium chloride, 1.4 mM β mercaptoethanol, 5% (v/v) glycerol, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100 (Thermo Fisher Scientific), and 0.5% (w/v) sodium deoxycholate (MilliporeSigma) with 2 mM MgCl2, 10 μ g ml-1 DNaseI (MilliporeSigma) and supplemented with an EDTA-free protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche). The supernatant was then obtained by centrifugation at 40,000g for 40min at 4 °C before being applied onto a HiTrap Q HP column (Cytiva Life Sciences) that had been equilibrated with 20mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.2, 400 mM sodium chloride, 1.4 mM β-mercaptoethanol and 5% (v/v) glycerol at 4 °C. The flow-through from the Q HP column was then stored at 4 °C, overnight. The next day, the supernatant was diluted twofold to yield a sodium chloride concentration of 200 mM with 20 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.2, 1.4 mM β -mercaptoethanol and 5% (v/v) glycerol, syringe-filtered with a 0.2- μ m filter (Acrodisc) and then the diluted

35

supernatant was loaded onto a HiTrap Heparin HP column (Cytiva Life Sciences). 0.5M sodium chloride was then run through the column to elute any contaminants. PF4 was then eluted with a linear gradient from 0.5 to 2M sodium chloride using the ÄKTA purification system (Marshall Scientific LLC). Eluted fractions containing either pure wild-type PF4 or PF4 mutants were then pooled, concentrated using centrifugal filters (10K Amicon Ultra-15; Sigma). The concentration of PF4 was determined using a bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Protein expression and purity was assessed for each PF4 mutant using 4–18% denaturing SDS–PAGE.

3.9 Affinity purification of anti-PF4 antibodies from HIT and non-HIT patients

3.9.1 Patient demographics:

Samples of human HIT sera were obtained from patients referred for diagnostic testing at the McMaster Platelet Immunology Laboratory. Leftover patient sera that were referred for laboratory testing for HIT were then used for purification purposes, the samples selected had tested positive in the in-house PF4/heparin (PF4/H) IgG-specific EIA, [OD450 nm] \geq 0.45 is positive and their platelet-activating functions were tested and confirmed as being positive for either platelet activating antibodies in i) the presence of heparin, making them heparin-dependent or ii) the Antibodiesence of heparin, making them heparin-independent antibodies in the serotonin-release assay (SRA). This study was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (HIREB).

3.9.2 Total IgG purification:

Protein G beads (GE healthcare, Mississauga, ON, CAN) were washed with PBS (1:10 dilution of beads in PBS) by spinning beads in PBS at 400 x g for 5 minutes and repeated for a total of 3 times. Patient samples confirmed to have either heparin-independent or heparin-dependent antibodies were diluted 1:3 with PBS. The diluted serum was then added to the

36
washed protein G beads and incubated at room temperature for 1 hour with shaking. The Protein G beads were then spun down at 300 x g for 5 minutes to remove unbound antibodies in the serum. The beads were then washed with PBS at a 5x volume and spun again at 300 x g for 5 minutes and repeated 3 times. Following washing, elution buffer (0.1M Glycine, pH 2.8) was added to an Eppendorf containing neutralizing Tris buffer (1.5M, pH 8.8) and incubated at room temperature for 15 minutes. Following incubation, the eluate was then spun down at 300 x g and collected to obtain total IgG from the Protein G beads. This step was repeated 3 more times with each elution collected into a new Eppendorf supplemented with neutralizing Tris buffer (1.5M, pH 8.8). The absorbance was measured at OD_{280nm} using spectrophotometry (BioPhotometer 6131 Spectrophotometer, Eppendorf) and subsequently used to calculate the concentration. The purity of the total IgG was confirmed using SDS-PAGE gel. Total IgG purified from patient samples that were confirmed for heparin-independent (HI) antibodies was subsequently ran through a PF4 column, meanwhile the total IgG from patient samples that were confirmed for heparin-independent (HD) antibodies was subsequently ran through a PF4/heparin column.

Biotinylating WT-rhPF4 was performed for its subsequent use in purifying heparinindependent and heparin-dependent antibodies from the total IgG of the previously described patients. WT-rhPF4 (12mg) was incubated with 2mL of Heparin Sepharose beads (GE Healthcare) for 1 hr at room temperature (RT). EZ-Link Sulfo-NHS-LC-Biotin (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was added to the WT-rhPF4 bound to heparin beads in 20 molar excess and the reaction was incubated for 1 hour with shaking at RT. The biotinylated WT-rhPF4 was eluted from the heparin beads using 2 M NaCl in PBS and the biotinylated WT-rhPF4 subsequently diluted in PBS buffer to lower the concentration of NaCl to 0.5 M. The concentration of the biotinylated WT-rhPF4 was determined using a spectrophotometer (OD280nm). Purity and Biotinylating of WT-rhPF4 was confirmed using a streptavidin EIA.

3.9.3 PF4 affinity column to elute heparin-independent (HI) HIT antibodies: Total IgG that was purified from samples confirmed to have had HI antibodies was run in the PF4 column to purify HI antibodies. Biotinylated PF4 (bPF4) was incubated with total IgG for 1 hour at RT and then transferred to streptavidin coated Sepharose beads (GE Healthcare) overnight at 4°C. Following washing, bound HI Antibodies were then eluted using 10mL of 0.1M Glycine buffer, pH 2.7 and the solution was neutralized with 1mL of Tris buffer, pH 8.0. The elution buffer containing HI Antibodies was immediately exchanged for PBS and the concentrated through centrifugation.

3.9.4 PF4/heparin affinity column to elute heparin-dependent (HD) HIT antibodies:

Total IgG that was purified from samples confirmed to have had HD antibodies was run in the PF4 column to purify HD antibodies. Complexes of 0.5IU/mL unfractionated heparin (UFH) were incubated with a 1:4 mixture of biotinylated PF4 and PF4 and formed at RT for 1hr before being suspended in streptavidin coated Sepharose beads and incubated overnight at 4°C. The sample column was then washed, and the previously purified total IgG was transferred to the PF4/H column. The sample column was then washed to remove any unbound antibodies, the HD Antibodies were eluted from the protein G column with 0.1M Glycine buffer, pH 2.7 and neutralized with Tris buffer, pH 8.0. The elution buffer containing total IgG was immediately exchanged for PBS and concentrated through centrifugation.

3.10 Immunoassay to determine the binding of HIT and VITT antibodies against PF4 mutants The binding of antibodies in VITT and HIT patient sera to wildtype PF4 and PF4 mutants
was measured using a modified PF4/heparin IgG-specific EIA. Streptavidin was immobilized on a microtiter well plate (384 wells; Thermo Scientific Nunc) overnight at 4 °C. 1 IU/mL Biotinylated UFH was incubated with streptavidin for 1 hr. 5 µg/mL of either purified recombinant mutant or wildtype PF4 proteins were then added and incubated for 1 hour at ambient temperature and then washed with PBS+0.05% Tween 20. 1:50 dilutions of the either VITT or HIT patient samples were then added to the plate and incubated for 1 hr at RT. Following washing, the alkaline phosphatase-conjugated anti-human or alkaline phosphataseconjugated CXCL4/PF4 Rabbit anti-Mouse Polyclonal Antibody (Jackson Immuno Research Laboratories, Inc) was added and incubated for 1 hr at ambient temperature. 1 mg/mL pnitrophenylphosphate (PNPP, Sigma-Aldrich) substrate dissolved in 1 mol/L diethanolamine buffer (pH 9.6) was then added for detection. Following a 30-minute incubation, the optical density was measured at 405nm (OD405nm) using a TECAN Surise plate reader (Tecan Group Ltd., Mannedorf, Switzerland) to assess binding of antibodies to wild-type PF4 and PF4 mutants. Results were reported as a percentage of VITT and HIT antibody binding relative to wildtype PF4 binding using the following

% antibody binding =
$$\frac{OD_{VITT \text{ or HIT patient against mutant PF4}}}{OD_{VITT \text{ or HIT patient against wildtype PF4}} x 100$$

3.11 Data Acquisition, statistical analysis, and reproducibility

We visualized the number of hydrogen bonds that occur between the mutated amino acids on PF4 that make up the VITT binding site and can also differentiate between HIT and VITT antibodies on the X-ray crystal structure of PF4 using PyMOL. We analyzed the location of the affected amino acids as being either on the alpha helix or beta sheet of PF4 using an online curated database containing integrated protein information with cross-reference to multiple sources (UniProtKB, entry: PLF4_Human). GraphPad Prism version 9.1.2 for Mac OS software (GraphPad Software, Inc) was used to create all graphs and perform statistical analysis. Performance characteristics, including sensitivity, specificity, and confidence intervals, were calculated using Microsoft Excel for Mac version 15.37. Differences between data sets were tested for statistical significance using an unpaired *t*-test or a testing for significant difference in medians, using R package *coin*. *P*-values are reported as two-tailed where P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4 **RESULTS**

4.1.1 Expressing and purifying 70 PF4 mutants.

4.1.2 Expression and purification of PF4 mutants compared to bacterial lysate.

To purify each PF4 mutant was expressed by bacteria and visually confirmed using SDS-

PAGE, wildtype recombinant human PF4 (WT-rhPF4) was used as a control to confirm protein expression (Figure 1). These results confirm that the induction of PF4 mutants at mid-exponential cell growth with IPTG produced the largest amounts of soluble mutant PF4. As an example, Figures 1a and 1b show the SDS-PAGE analysis of the cells of the PF4 mutants G7A-D8A and L9A-Q10A, respectively, before and after inducing PF4 expression with IPTG. In addition, Figure 2 shows the SDS-PAGE analysis of the cells of the PF4 mutants E2A-D6A and one wildtype PF4 sample used as a control after inducing PF4 expression with IPTG. Once protein expression of all 70 PF4 mutants was confirmed, we then purified them by way of affinity chromatography using a heparin column and visualized the purity of each sample by SDS-PAGE gel (Figure 3). Figure 3 shows an example of the multiple samples eluted using a salt gradient containing contaminants including supernatant (SN) and samples kept from washing the heparin column (Hep Wash) that

were collected during the purification process. Finally, we obtained samples of PF4 mutants that were contaminant-free when compared to the previous protocol that used bacterial lysate as seen in Figures 4a and 4b. It was important to obtain samples of purified PF4 mutants that were contaminant-free to combat limitations that were faced in the previous study that used bacterial lysate, which included the high background reactivity that was observed when testing several HIT patient sera against bacterial lysate and consequently, this reduced the testing population and risked obtaining skewed data in the previous study.

- 4.1.3 Mapping the binding sites of HIT antibodies on PF4 using alanine scanning mutagenesis
- 4.1.4 Mapping the binding sites of pathogenic HIT monoclonal antibodies

4.1.5 Testing the activity of 1E12, 1C12, and 2E1 in the EIA To optimize the detection of monoclonal antibodies in the EIA, we tested 1E12, 1C12, and

2E1 at varying concentrations of 1.6 μ g/mL, 3.1 μ g/mL, 6.3 μ g/mL, 12.5 μ g/mL, 25.0 μ g/mL and 50.0 μ g/mL against wildtype-PF4/heparin as described in the methods section. A previous report of 1E12, 1C12, and 2E1 observed high OD values and maximal activity at 2 μ g/mL and positive OD values at concentrations as low as 0.5 μ g/mL in the EIA.⁷² We too, observed positive OD values of 0.6, 0.7, and 0.5 for 1E12, 1C12, and 2E1 respectively, at antibody concentrations as low as 1.6 μ g/mL (Figure 7). Our results and Vayne *et al*'s results suggest a high affinity of 1E12, 1C12, and 2E1 for PF4/heparin complexes.

4.1.6 Pathogenic Binding Sites of monoclonal antibodies 1E12, 1C12, 2E1 on PF4

To confirm whether the previously predicted binding sites on PF4 that used polyclonal HIT sera were in fact pathogenic, we predicted the binding sites of 3 murine monoclonal anti-PF4 antibodies with a humanized Fc (1E12, 1C12, 2E1) that possessed pathogenic HIT antibody

activity when tested against platelets (Figure 8a-c).⁷² The results from mapping the binding sites of each monoclonal antibody are as follows:

1E12: the PF4 mutants R22A, H23A, L45A, K50A, K66A resulted in greater than 50% reduction when testing the binding of 1E12 against each corresponding mutant compared to wild-type PF4. Excluding L45, the amino acids that make up the 1E12 epitope on PF4 are part of the amino acids that make up the VITT binding site that is localized within the heparin binding region on PF4 (Figure 8a).⁷¹

1C12: the PF4 mutants E28A, I30A, N47A, G48A, R49A, K50A, I51A, C52A resulted in greater than 45% reduction when testing the binding of 1C12 against each corresponding mutant compared to wild-type PF4. The amino acids that make up the 1C12 epitope PF4 bind to the same region as VITT antibodies that is localized within the heparin binding region and the amino acids E28, N47, and K50 are part of the amino acids that make up the VITT binding site that is localized within the heparin binding region on PF4 (Figure 8b). ⁷¹

2E1: The PF4 mutants C10A, T25A, L27A, T38A, L41A resulted in greater than 45% reduction when testing the binding of 2E1 against each corresponding mutant compared to wild-type PF4. The amino acids that made up the 2E1 epitope on PF4 are found in the KKO binding region on PF4 and the amino acid C10 is part of those that make up the KKO binding site on PF4 (Figure 8c). ⁵²

4.1.7 Testing activity of monoclonal antibodies P4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 in the EIA

To optimize the detection of monoclonal antibodies in the EIA, we tested P4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 at varying concentrations of 1.6 μ g/mL, 3.3 μ g/mL, 6.3 μ g/mL, 12.5 μ g/mL, 25.0 μ g/mL, 50.0 μ g/mL and 75.0 μ g/mL against wildtype-PF4/heparin as described in the methods section. We observed a positive OD value (OD_{405nm} \ge 0.45) of 1.3 at a concentration of P4B1 as low as 1.6 μ g/mL, meanwhile positive OD values of 0.6 and 0.7 for P4B1 and P3D4, respectively (Figure 9). We too, observed that even a high concentration of P3D4 and P3E10 at 6.3 μ g/mL was insufficient to distinguishing the platelet-activating (P3D4) from non-platelet activating (P3E10) antibody. However, we observed that at a concentration of 1.6 μ g/mL, the OD values of P4B1 (1.3) can be distinguished from P3D4 (0.2) and P3E10 (0.2), a concentration at which both antibodies have negative OD values (Figure 9). P4B1 is a platelet activating antibody that displays heparin-independent activity by being able to activate platelets in the absence of heparin. We then performed a student's t-test to compare whether being able to distinguish P4B1 from P3D4 and P3E10 held any statistical relevance. We observed that at a concentration of 1.6 μ g/mL, the differences in OD values for P4B1 vs. P3D4 (p-value <0.0001) and P4B1 vs. P3E10 (p-value <0.0002) were both statistically significant (Figure 10).

4.1.8 Pathogenic Binding sites of monoclonal antibodies P4B1, P3E10 and P3D4 on PF4

To determine whether the previously predicted binding sites on PF4 that used polyclonal HIT sera were in fact pathogenic, we predicted the binding sites of 3 human-derived HIT monoclonal antibodies (P4B1, P3E10 and P3D4) that possessed HIT-like reactivity when tested against platelets (Figure 11a-c).

P4B1: the PF4 mutants C12A, V13A, K50A, C52A, L53A resulted in greater than 20% reduction in binding of P4B1 against each corresponding mutant compared to wild-type PF4. The amino acids that make up the P4B1 binding site on PF4 are found in the KKO binding region on PF4 and the amino acids including C12 and C52 are part of those that make up the KKO binding site on PF4 (Figure 11a).⁵²

P3D4: the PF4 mutants E1A, A2V, E3A, V13A, P37A, T38A resulted in greater than 20% reduction in binding of P3D4 against each corresponding mutant compared to wild-type PF4. The amino acids that made up the P3D4 binding site on PF4 are found in the KKO binding region on PF4 (Figure 11b). ^{52,71,88}

P3E10: the PF4 mutants K14A, T15A, L27A, C36A, A39V, Q40A resulted in greater than 20% reduction in binding of P3E10 against each corresponding mutant compared to wild-type PF4. The amino acids that made up the P3E10 binding site on PF4 are not located in any of the identified antibody binding regions on PF4, rather they are found outside the KKO binding site on PF4 (Figure 11c).⁵²

4.1.9 Purifying total IgG antibodies from HIT sera:

To confirm the binding sites of HIT antibodies on PF4, we went on to purify HI and HD from HIT samples. To do this, we followed a method of sequential purification steps that first involves purifying the total amount of IgG class antibodies from HIT samples (Figure 12). We purified the total IgG antibodies from four HIT patient samples. Following purification of total IgG from the four HIT serum samples, we confirmed the purity of the IgG purified from HIT sera by SDS-PAGE gel analysis (Figure 13) and then tested the purified total IgG in a PF4/heparin EIA to confirm that antibody reactivity against the antigen was not lost. The ODs of the serum from patient 1, patient 2, patient 3, and patient 4 were 3.03, 2.87, 1.86, and 2.61, respectively and the ODs of the IgG purified from these patients were at values of 1.11, 1.95, 0.52, and 0.60, respectively and considered positive (OD405nm \geq 0.45) with respect to the standard 0.45 cut-off used for serum samples against PF4/heparin in the EIA.

4.1.10 Purification and performance of HI and HD HIT antibodies

To determine whether HI and HD HIT antibodies from HIT patients bind to sites that dictate their platelet activation profiles and to identify amino acids that could be further used to separate them from VITT antibodies, I attempted to purify HI and HD HIT antibodies from four HIT patients in whom the anti-PF4/heparin antibodies are autoantibody-like, as they recognize PF4 bound to platelets even in the absence of heparin in the SRA.. Our method of affinity purification involved binding streptavidin coated beads to biotinylated PF4 to form a PF4 column to purify HI antibodies and another similar column, where heparin was added to form a PF4/heparin column to purify HD antibodies. Following affinity purification, we confirmed that the purified samples containing HI and HD antibodies from each column were free of contaminants using SDS-PAGE. The image of the SDS-PAGE in Figure 14 confirms the purity HI and HD samples with visible bands indicating the heavy chain at 50 kDa, and light chain at 25 kDa. We then tested the purified samples containing the HI antibodies for four HIT patients and HD antibodies for the same four HIT patients in an EIA. When tested in the PF4/heparin EIA, the mean OD_{405nm} of the purified HI antibodies from the four HIT patients was 0.51 (range 0.1-1.3) and the mean OD_{405nm} of the purified HD antibodies from the same four HIT patients was 0.55 (range 0.07-1.1) (Table 2).

4.1.11 Mapping the binding sites of purified HI HIT antibodies

To determine where the purified HI and HD antibodies bind to on PF4, we tested these antibodies against the 70 PF4 mutants in an EIA. We tested the 2 patients (patient 2 and patient 4) whose serum, HI and HD antibodies reacted positively in the EIA (OD405-490nm \ge 0.45) (Table 2). We determined the binding sites of the 2 patients by mapping the purified HD and HI antibodies against the 70 PF4 mutants (Figure 15a, b). 7 PF4 mutants (L8A, C10A, T16A, R20A, C52A, K61A, and L67A (Figure 15b) resulted in \ge 50% loss of binding of HI HIT antibodies and were of common importance between the 2 HIT patients. These 7 PF4 mutants identified represent amino acids that are found in the binding sites of previously tested HIT-like monoclonal antibodies that display heparin-independent reactivity including 1C12 (C52A) and 2E1 (C10A and T16A), as well as those found in the previously published HI-HIT site by Huynh *et al.*⁷¹ The binding sites of HI-HIT antibodies on PF4 were predicted using alanine-scanning mutagenesis, and changes to the antibody-binding ability were modelled using the crystal structure of the PF4 monomer (Figure 15b). The purified HD antibodies from the 2 HIT patients were also tested against the PF4 mutants. We found 6 PF4 mutants resulted in \geq 50% loss of binding of HD HIT antibodies and were of common importance between the 2 HIT patients. These amino acids include K14A, H23A, V29A, T38A, K50A, K66A (Figure 15a). The 6 PF4 mutants identified represent amino acids that are found in the binding sites of previously tested HIT-like monoclonal antibodies that display heparin-dependent reactivity including P3D4 (T38A) and P4B1 (K50A).

4.1.12 Binding Sites of HIT antibodies on PF4

The binding of HIT antibodies to wildtype PF4 and PF4 mutants was measured using a streptavidin EIA as outlined in the methods section. Figure 5 outlines a schematic diagram of the streptavidin-based EIA used to detect HIT antibodies. A primary antibody like KKO was used as a HIT-like model to confirm the feasibility of the assay.^{43,52,69} In alignment with previous results ^{43,52,69} we found that 9 PF4 mutants including C10A, V13A, A32V, C36A, C52A, L55A, Q56A, L67A, L68A resulted in greater than 50% reduction in binding of KKO against each corresponding mutant compared to wild-type PF4 (Figure 6). We then tested the 10 HIT patients in our binding assay and found that of the 70 PF4 mutants tested, 9 PF4 mutants: C10A, A32V, C36A, P37A, L41A, A43V, L53A, D54A, L67A were identified with a 50% or greater reduction in HIT patient antibody binding compared to wild-type PF4 (Figure 6a and Table 1). The PF4 mutants that affected HIT antibody binding are restricted to a similar region as KKO on PF4 and 4 out of 12 of the amino acids affected including C10A, A32V, C36A, and L55A overlap with the 9 amino acids

that make up the KKO binding site on PF4. Although, these 9 amino acids in the KKO binding site confirm previous results from the study that used bacterial lysate,⁵² using purified PF4 mutants allowed us to identify the 9 amino acids that comprise the KKO binding site on PF4 using 50% cut-off and no background interference.

4.1.13 Binding Sites of antibodies from HIT patients with non-HIT patients on PF4

We also selected 10 non-HIT patient samples to determine whether they bound to a restricted site on PF4. The non-HIT patient cohort includes patients that tested positive for antibodies against wild-type PF4 in our in-house IgG specific PF4/heparin EIA⁴⁸ (OD_{405nm} \ge 0.45) but subsequently tested negative for platelet activating antibodies in the SRA (\ge 20% ¹⁴C-serotonin release). We determined that the PF4 mutants that affected the binding of non-HIT antibodies by greater than 15% in comparison to wildtype PF4 recognized arbitrary sites on PF4 and that the amino acids affected were not restricted to any identified region on PF4 (Figure 7b).

4.1.14 Binding sites of VITT antibodies on PF4

VITT patient samples were collected and tested against the PF4 mutants to confirm the recently identified VITT binding site on PF4 with a larger sample size than the 5 patients initially tested.⁷¹ We selected a total of 14 diagnosed VITT patients to predict the binding sites of VITT antibodies on PF4. The binding sites were predicted once we made point mutations to each amino acid on PF4 to generate 70 recombinant PF4 mutants and with then we performed alanine-scanning mutagenesis. We tested each of the recombinant PF4 mutants against the 14 VITT positive patient samples and identified 9 PF4 mutants including L8A, R22A, H23A, E28A, K46A, N47A, K50A, K62A, K66A that affected the binding of VITT antibodies. The 9 PF4 mutants include those that resulted in greater than 50% reduction in binding of each corresponding mutant compared to wild-type PF4. The 9 affected mutants align with the 8 that are reported in literature⁷¹ with the addition

of L8A (Table 3). These PF4 mutants represent 9 out of 70 (12.9%) amino acids found on the surface of PF4 that are critical for the binding of antibodies in VITT samples. (Figure 16a and b colored red).

4.1.15 Clinical description of PF4-dependent vs. PF4-independent VITT patient cohorts

Upon further assessing the laboratory and clinical characteristics of the 14 VITT patients we selected for the binding study: within the VITT cohort (n=14) we identified that 10 of these VITT patients are those whose antibodies display PF4-dependent reactivity, and the remaining 4 patients are VITT patients whose antibodies display PF4-independent reactivity. The laboratory characteristics of PF4-dependent and PF4 independent antibodies VITT patients are outlined as followed. PF4-dependent antibodies include VITT patient samples that display typical platelet activation profiles in the PF4-SRA, meaning that they are negative in buffer (< 20% ¹⁴C serotonin release) at 0 μ g/mL of PF4 and positive ($\geq 20\%$ ¹⁴C serotonin release) at either concentration of PF4 including 10 µg/mL, 25 µg/mL and 50 µg/mL and inhibited by IV.3 (Figure 16a). PF4 independent antibodies include a subset of VITT patients whose samples display unique platelet activation profiles in the PF4-SRA compared to the typical profiles outlined, meaning that PF4independent antibodies react positively in buffer ($\geq 20\%$ ¹⁴C serotonin release) in the absence of PF4 at 0 μ g/mL and positive at either concentration of PF4 including 10 μ g/mL, 25 μ g/mL and 50 μ g/mL and inhibited by IV.3 (Figure 16b). These patient samples were identified as PF4independent since they can activate platelets in the absence of the supplemented antigen for VITT antibodies, PF4. Of the 14 VITT patients we selected, the antibodies in 10 patients displayed PF4dependent platelet activity in the PF4-SRA. The 10 VITT patients with PF4-dependent antibodies were further assessed and their clinical characteristics are outlined as in Table 4 and as followed. 10 out of 10 (100%) of these patients had received at least one dose of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19

(AstraZeneca) vaccine. The most common presentations of thrombosis in the PF4-dependent cohort were cerebral venous sinus thrombosis (CVST) (4 out of 10, 40%), deep vein thrombosis (DVT) (2 out of 10, 20%), and pulmonary embolisms (PE) (2 out of 10, 20%). Meanwhile, 4 patients with PF4-independent antibody reactivity in the PF4-SRA were screened further and their clinical characteristics are outlined in Table 2 and as followed: 3 out of 4 (75%) of these patients had received at least one dose of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AstraZeneca) vaccine and the 1 patient had received Ad26.COV2.S (Johnson and Johnson, J&J). The most common presentations of thrombosis in the PF4-dependent cohort were CVST (2 out 4, 50%), DVT (2 out of 4, 50%), and PE (2 out of 4, 50%). There was a significant difference (P < 0.001) in the platelet counts between the PF4-dependent (mean = 50 x10°/L) and PF4-independent (mean = 171 x10°/L) patient samples (Table 4). With differences observed in the clinical and laboratory characteristics between PF4-dependent and PF4-independent VITT patient samples, we went on to analyze whether there would also be differences observed in the binding characteristics to PF4 of the antibodies found in these patients.

4.1.16 PF4-dependent antibody vs. PF4-independent antibody binding sites on PF4

We selected a total of 14 VITT patients and confirmed the amino acids that comprise the VITT binding site on PF4 as described in the results section above and in the recent study by Huynh *et al.*⁷¹ Upon assessing the PF4-SRA results, we determined that 10 out of 14 (71.4%) of these patient samples displayed PF4-dependent reactivity profiles in the PF4-SRA meanwhile, the remaining 4 out of 14 (7.1%) patients displayed PF4-independent reactivity profiles. Nine amino acids (L8, R22, H23, E28, K46, N47, K50, K62, K66) were common among 10 of the 14 VITT patients with PF4-dependent reactivity profiles that resulted in greater than 50% reduction in binding (Figure 16a). These PF4 mutants are like the nine amino acids that make up the previously

identified VITT site.⁷¹ The amino acids L8, E28, K46, K50 and N47 are located on the beta strand of PF4 meanwhile, amino acids R22, H23, K62, K66 are located on the alpha helix of PF4. Eight out of 9 (88.9%) of these PF4 mutants make up the amino acids that comprise the VITT binding site as predicted by Huynh et al.⁷¹ The binding sites of 4 patient samples with PF4-independent reactivity profiles in the PF4-SRA were also mapped using the 70 PF4 mutants and outlined in Figure 16b. Two different binding sites were identified in this patient group. All PF4 mutants affected PF4-independent antibodies with greater than 50% reduction in binding. The first binding site was like the published VITT binding site and the binding site we previously determined for PF4-dependent antibodies and included the PF4 mutants L8A, R22A, H23A, E28A, K46A, N47A, K62A, K65A, and K66A. Meanwhile, the second binding site recognized by PF4-independent antibodies included 10 PF4 mutants namely, Q9A, C10A, C12A, T15A, A39V, Q40A, C52A, L53A, D54A, and K61A and are outlined in Table 5. The amino acids Q9, C52, L53 are located on the beta strand of PF4. C12 and K61 are located on the alpha helix of PF4 (Table 3). The 10 PF4 mutants that affected PF4-independent VITT antibodies bind to the region of the previously identified KKO site on PF4 (Figure 16b).52,71

4.1.17 PF4 mutants that differentiate VITT from HIT

We selected the 10 PF4 mutants R20A, H23A, T25A, E28A, K46A, R49A, K50A, K62A, K65A, K66, of which the corresponding amino acids are important either for VITT or heparin binding to PF4 to determine whether they could differentiate between HIT and VITT. We found that 5/10 (50%) of these mutants (H23A, K46A, K50A, K62A, and K66A) consistently showed the largest decrease in VITT antibody binding to PF4 when tested against a larger subset of samples in previous screens and the additional 5 PF4 mutants (R20A, T25A, E28A, R49A, and

K65A) resulted either in no change or an increase in HIT antibody binding when compared to their binding to wildtype PF4 in previous screens. These 10 PF4 mutants were then tested against larger subset of HIT (n=22) and VITT (n=9) patient samples. Patient samples were selected based on having a positive test result for antibodies against wild-type PF4 in our in-house IgG specific PF4/heparin EIA⁴⁸ (OD_{405nm} \geq 0.45) and subsequently tested positive for platelet activating antibodies in the SRA ($\geq 20\%$ ¹⁴C-serotonin release). The average binding to each mutant was compared between the groups. All 10 selected mutants (R20A: 19.1% vs. 94.6%, p < 0.05, H23A: 17.4% vs. 97.0%, p < 0.0001, T25A: 24.5% vs. 146.1%, p < 0.001, E28A: 20.5% vs. 111.0%, p < 0.0001, K46A: 12.2% vs. 76.4%, p < 0.001, R49A: 17.8% vs 132.9%, p < 0.01, K50A: 13.4% vs. 79.0%, p < 0.0001, K62A: 19.6% vs. 94.6%, p < 0.0001, K65A: 20.1% vs. 124.5%, p < 0.001, K66A: 18.5% vs. 114.4%, p < 0.0001) were able to distinguish HIT from VITT antibodies with statistical significance (Figure 17 and Table 6). The mutants H23A, E28A, K50A and K66A were better at separating HIT from VITT antibodies when using cut-offs of 45.5%, 42.7%, 31.1%, and 41.8%, respectively and all had high sensitivities (100%) and specificities (100%). 6 out of 10 (60%) of these PF4 mutants (H23A, E28A, K46A, K50A, K62A, K66A) represent 6 amino acids that were identified as part of the 8 amino acids that make up the VITT antibody binding site on PF4 determined by Huynh et al.71,88

4.1.18 PF4 mutants that differentiate HIT from non-HIT

To differentiate between HIT and non-HIT, the serum samples of patients that presented with HIT-like symptoms but were negative for HIT were sent in for diagnostic testing. The patient samples from both HIT (n=22) and non-HIT (n=12) patient groups that tested positive for antibodies against wild-type PF4 in our in-house IgG specific PF4/heparin EIA⁴⁸ (OD_{405nm} \ge 0.45) and the streptavidin/biotinylated-heparin/PF4 EIA (OD_{405nm} \ge 0.45) were selected for further analysis (Tables 9 and 10). These HIT and non-HIT patient cohorts were then tested against the 10 previously selected PF4 mutants in an EIA. The average binding to each mutant was compared between the groups. Only 5 out of the 10 selected mutants (H23A: 96.9% vs. 50.0%, p < 0.0001, T25A: 146.1% vs. 57.2%, p < 0.01, R49A: 132.9% vs. 63.9%, p < 0.05, K65A: 124.5% vs. 59.3%, p < 0.05 and K66A: 114.4% vs. 74.4%, p < 0.05) were able to distinguish HIT from non-HIT antibodies with statistical significance (Figure 18 and Table 8). The mutants H23A, T25A, and K65A were better at separating HIT from VITT antibodies when using cut-offs of 49.8%, 58.9%, and 52.4% respectively and all had low sensitivities (50%) and high specificities of 95.7%, 82.1% and 91.3% in the EIA testing HIT and non-HIT samples against the PF4 mutants H23A, T25A and K65A, respectively. These 5 amino acids are part of those that make up the previously defined heparin binding site on PF4.⁹⁹

5 DISCUSSION

Platelet-activating antibodies are a source of the pathogeneses in blood disorders like HIT and VITT. The pathogenic antibodies in HIT are mostly specific for PF4/heparin and can activate platelets to cause arterial and venous thrombosis with a mortality rate as high as 20% in the event of missed or delayed diagnoses.¹⁰⁰ EIAs alone are insufficient to diagnose HIT since they have a low specificity of approximately 51%,^{48,50,51} and thus are unable to rule out the presence of non-pathogenic, non-platelet activating antibodies. By contrast, we recently showed that the EIAs used for diagnosis in VITT have an improved specificity as high as 96%.^{81,101,102} Evidently, differences in the types of antibodies that activate platelets in VITT and HIT have been of particular interest as they could provide a promising way of identifying the mechanism that triggers VITT and offer more insight on the antibodies that lead to HIT. Therefore, the aim of my project was to purify 70 PF4 mutants and to determine whether the molecular characteristics of HIT and VITT antibodies dictate their platelet activation profiles and from this, I developed an assay that can be used to differentiate between both anti-PF4 disorders. I did so by determining the binding sites where pathogenic antibodies in HIT bind to on PF4 using HIT-like monoclonal antibodies and HIT antibodies purified directly from patient samples. We recently identified 8 amino acids on PF4 that are important for VITT antibody binding.⁷¹ Initial studies showed that VITT caused by the AstraZeneca vaccine had 1 antibody that recognizes an epitope in the heparinbinding site, meanwhile VITT anti-PF4 antibodies after the J&J vaccine had 2 antibodies, where the additional epitope recognizes the binding site of heparin-dependent antibodies and alsomodel HIT pathogenic monoclonal antibodies.⁸⁸ Based on such findings, another aim of my project was to perform ASM on more VITT samples for the purpose of identifying whether there is a second VITT antibody binding site on PF4. Lastly, there has been emerging interest on whether there are intrinsic characteristics that can help to differentiate HIT from VITT. ¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵ From this, I developed an assay that uses specific PF4 mutants to differentiate HIT antibodies from VITT antibodies in an easy-to-use and efficient assay. This work is relevant to improving diagnostic strategies and provide a better explanation on the triggers that cause HIT and VITT. The implication of these aims and results will be discussed below.

5.1.1 Modifying ASM using purified mutants compared to bacterial lysate

I purified 70 PF4 mutants for the purpose of determining whether the binding sites of HIT pathogenic monoclonal antibodies and VITT antibodies dictate their platelet activation profiles and whether these characteristics can be used to differentiate between both anti-PF4 disorders. To do this, I modified a previous assay by Huynh *et al* that used bacterial lysate of 70 PF4 mutants to

identify immunodominant sites in HIT.52 The methods implemented in this study produced bacterial lysate of 70 PF4 mutants by way of ASM to first identify as a control, the binding site of the PF4 mutants to bind to the monoclonal antibody KKO, then to experimentally determine the binding sites of the pathogenic HIT antibodies from patient sera.⁵² They found 13 amino acids on PF4 that were important for KKO binding and identified 10 amino acids that are recognized by most HIT antibodies, however, several HIT patient sera could not be tested in the binding assays due to the background reactivity to bacterial lysate. ⁵² While the assay I used involved purified 70 PF4 mutants, I too, found that some HIT patient samples reacted with high background OD values against the purified 70 PF4 mutants compared to wildtype PF4 in the EIA, making it difficult to identify important epitopes on PF4 that antibodies in those HIT patients bind to. However, I observed 9 amino acids that were important for KKO binding on PF4, which was less than the 13 amino acids identified when using bacterial lysate.⁵² Using purified PF4 mutants was important since, the increased background signal in the previous assay could be explained by the reaction of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies found in HIT patient sera against bacterial lysate. Bacterial lysate in its soluble form has been shown to be a useful tool during structural and biochemical protein characterization in experiments like Native Mass spectrometry and SDS-PAGE.³ However, the use of bacterial lysate in binding assays can leave contaminants like cell debris and furthermore, lead to the background expression of *E.coli* proteins that could compete with the activity of the protein of interest.¹⁰⁶ For example, a study by Didovyk *et al* looked at B-galactosidase (LacZ), an enzyme that cleaves lactose into glucose and galactose for the advancement of glycolysis.^{107,108} LacZ was tagged with a green fluorescent protein (GFP) and similar to our protocol, was expressed in E. coli BL21 (DE3) strain for the purpose of analyzing the activity of the bacterial lysate produced, the reactions were monitored by GFP fluorescence and then measured at a readout of OD 574 nm. They observed high OD readings in the LacZ deficient bacterial lysate, which the authors explained by possible background expression of *E. coli* genes as mentioned before. ¹⁰⁶ For this reason purified proteins have been found to provide more extensive characterization of the physiochemical and functional aspects of a tetramer, including the effect of mutations on the structural properties of proteins.¹⁰⁹

5.2 Optimizing identification of VITT and HIT antibody binding sites on PF4

We then used the purified mutants to confirm the HIT and VITT antibody binding sites as first described by Huynh et al.⁷¹ By mapping the binding sites of antibodies in 10 HIT and 14 VITT patients, we were able to confirm that there are two distinct binding regions made up of 12 amino acids on PF4 for HIT antibodies and 9 amino acids for VITT antibodies to bind to on PF4. 12/12 (100%) of the amino acids that we found important for the HIT site were part of the same 10-13 amino acids identified for HIT antibody binding by Huynh et al.52,71 This suggests that despite likely having polyclonal antibodies, there are dominant clones in HIT patients that recognize similar amino acids on PF4 and are likely to trigger platelet activation and disease.^{71,79} Meanwhile, 8/9 (88.9%) of the amino acids that we found important for the binding of antibodies from VITT patients were part of the same 8 amino acids identified for VITT antibody binding by Huynh et al in 5 of VITT patients.⁷¹ Based on suggestions that VITT antibodies have oligoclonal/monoclonal characteristics, this indicates that VITT patients likely recognize a distinct region on PF4 to trigger the pathogenesis of VITT.⁷¹ The HIT site we identified and Huynh et al published is confirmed to be in a similar region on PF4 as the KKO site 52,69,71 and again similarly to Huynh et al., our findings revealed that the VITT site is in a similar region on PF4 as the heparin binding site on PF4. 71,99 The antibodies in both diseases bind to distinct sites from each other due to the way they recognize PF4 to elicit platelet activation, majority of HIT antibodies recognize

complexes of PF4/heparin since heparin causes a confirmation change to PF4 that reveals neoepitopes on PF4 for antibodies to bind and cause platelet activation.¹¹⁰⁻¹¹² Meanwhile, the antibodies in VITT patients recognize PF4 alone to cause VITT in patients that have received an adenoviral vector-based vaccine, suggesting that the heparin binding site allows for sufficiently large PF4-antibody complexes to form such that they can elicit an immune response in VITT patients.^{73,88}

The proposed mechanism for VITT is currently under investigation, however, VITT antibodies bind to PF4 efficiently enough to activate platelets without prior heparin treatment, suggesting that the conformation of PF4 might not need to be modified to reveal neoepitopes for platelet activation in VITT.¹¹³ Unlike in HIT where majority of the antibodies bind to different epitopes within a region on PF4, anti-PF4 VITT antibodies bind to a distinct site on PF4 that is made up of 8-9 common amino acids, giving anti-PF4 VITT antibodies monoclonal/oligoclonal characteristics. ^{71,79} Anti-PF4 VITT antibodies display these monoclonal/oligoclonal characteristics since they have a distinct preference for the heparin binding site on PF4 and by their ability to be variably inhibited by heparin. ⁷⁹ A recent study by Singh *et al* presented a patient diagnosed with ChAdOx1 nCoV-19-associated (AstraZeneca) VITT that recovered after being treated with heparin, evidently, this is a phenomenon that provides insight on the distinguishable mechanisms that trigger VITT from HIT since heparin is possibly fatal to HIT patients.⁷⁹

Non-pathogenic antibodies have not been detected in VITT patients, whereas in HIT, nonpathogenic antibodies make up the majority of the antibodies in patients suspected of HIT and are the reason for the low specificity of HIT EIAs.¹¹⁴ For this reason, we also screened 10 patients with suspected HIT that were positive in the EIA for antibodies that were PF4/heparin specific but nonpathogenic because, they did not activate platelets in the SRA. We found that the antibodies in non-HIT patients did not recognize distinct sites on PF4 and had no distinguishable binding region identified like in HIT and VITT. This was needed to confirm whether the site that majority of the antibodies in HIT patient sera is in fact the site where pathogenic antibodies bind to on PF4 to cause HIT.

I went on to determine whether the region on PF4 where HIT antibodies bind to is pathogenic by mapping the sites of 1E12 and 1C12, 2 mouse-derived monoclonal antibodies with a human Fc-fragment that activate platelets in functional assays. When testing these antibodies against the 70 PF4 mutants, I found that 1E12 and 1C12 bound to a region on PF4 that was like the VITT site on PF4. These results coincide with previous functional assay results on 1E12 and 1C12 by Vayne *et al*, by predicting antibody binding sites *in silico* they found that both 1E12 and 1C12 bind to sites outside of the KKO site on PF4, furthermore with the SRA they found that similar to VITT, both monoclonal antibodies can activate platelets in the absence of heparin and are inhibited at high concentrations of UFH (10 IU/mL).⁷² Determining the binding sites of HITlike monoclonal antibodies provides important insight on spontaneous HIT which is a type of HIT that affects a small subset of HIT patients. Patients with spontaneous HIT are unique in that they have antibodies like 1E12 and 1C12 that can cause platelet activation even in the absence of prior heparin exposure, suggesting a mechanism of PF4 recognition that can occur in the absence of heparin, to change in the conformation of PF4 and reveal neoepitopes for pathogenic antibodies to bind and cause platelet activation. For this reason, the proposed mechanism of PF4 recognition in spontaneous HIT has been attributed to Gram-negative bacteria found on endothelial cells, which could behave similarly to heparin by binding to and altering PF4 conformation and lead to thrombosis.²⁴ Future experiments could involve purifying the antibodies from clinically diagnosed patients with spontaneous HIT and mapping them against the 70 PF4 mutants to confirm whether they share similar binding sites to 1E12 and 1C12 on PF4. This is important because spontaneous HIT is unlike typical HIT that affects most patients since typical HIT manifests because of heparin exposure, suggesting that there could possibly be differences in the mechanisms that lead to the pathogenesis of HIT caused by heparin exposure and HIT observed without heparin exposure.

We also mapped the binding site of 2E1, another mouse-derived monoclonal antibody that activates platelets in functional assays. We observed that 2E1 bound to a site like the KKO site on PF4. Our results differed from findings by Vayne *et al*, they determined that 2E1 recognizes a site on PF4 different but close to the KKO binding site, furthermore, 2E1 exhibited unique bivalent binding mechanism to PF4 through its antigen recognition site and charge-related interactions with heparin.⁷² It binds to two threonine and the two leucine residues, both of which are hydrophobic amino acids and there has been an observed bias toward hydrophobic amino acids in immunogenic epitopes. ^{115,116}

Next, we mapped the binding sites of the 3 human-derived monoclonal antibodies P4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 that display HIT-like reactivity in functional assays and activate platelets in the presence of heparin. P4B1 and P3D4 are EIA positive antibodies that activate platelets and P3E10 is an EIA positive antibody that does not activate platelets. Our results suggest that P4B1 has a high affinity for PF4/heparin complexes while P3D4 and P3E10 have a lower affinity for PF4/heparin complexes. We found that that P4B1 and P3D4 recognized similar sites on PF4 as the KKO site. These antibodies recognize a site on PF4 like the recently published heparin-dependent HIT site by Huynh *et al.*⁷¹ As expected by an antibody derived from a non-HIT patient, P3E10 recognized a site different from and outside both the KKO and VITT binding regions on PF4. This was consistent with the binding characteristics we found from screening the 10 non-HIT patients above, where we reported that the antibodies in non-HIT patients bind to indistinct and

indistinguishable sites on PF4, unlike most antibodies in HIT and VITT that are restricted to 2 distinct binding sites on PF4. This portion of our study is the first reported attempt at mapping the binding sites of 3 human-derived monoclonal antibodies directly from HIT patients where ours and previous studies have looked at mouse-derived monoclonal antibodies. We were limited in the amount of sample available to map each monoclonal antibody at higher concentrations, therefore, future studies may look to obtaining more of each sample to show repeatability in being able to map P4B1, P3D4 and P3E10 at varying concentrations against PF4 mutants.

Once we were able to confirm the binding sites of HIT antibodies through an optimized method that uses purified PF4 mutants where bacterial lysate was once used, we then used this method to confirm the binding sites of VITT antibodies on PF4. In doing so, we found that majority of the antibodies in VITT patients bound to the previously defined VITT site published by Huynh et al.⁷¹ Furthermore, we identified two cohorts of antibodies in VITT patients, those typically observed with PF4-dependent reactivity and those less observed with PF4-independent reactivity in the SRA. The difference between these antibodies is the ability of PF4-independent the antibodies to activate platelets in the absence of PF4 (0 µg/mL PF4) while PF4-dependent antibodies display typical platelet activation profiles in the presence of PF4. The reason why some patients had platelet-activating PF4-independent VITT antibodies could be due to the presence of the antigen PF4 in the peripheral blood.³⁶ PF4 is released from stimulated platelets following injury and can be found at minimum detectable levels ranging from 4 ng/mL to 24 ng/mL in the plasma of healthy patients³⁷ to levels as high as 19.24 mg/mL to 24.1 mg/mL in patients with inflammatory diseases or patients that have undergone cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. ^{117,118} From mapping the binding sites of VITT patient samples that displayed PF4-independent reactivity profiles, we found that the antibodies in these patients recognized both the KKO site and the VITT site. We suspect that the reason for evidence of additional amino acids within the KKO region recognized outside the VITT site is due to the suggested mechanism for VITT by anti-PF4 antibodies; like in HIT where heparin causes neoepitopes to form on PF4, VITT antibodies are suspected of binding and orienting PF4 in a similar manner as heparin does to trigger platelet activation like HD antibodies in HIT.^{52,71,78}

Knowledge on the pathogenic binding sites in HIT and VITT allowed us to select appropriate PF4 mutants to differentiate VITT from HIT in an EIA. We selected mutants that affected the binding of most HIT and VITT samples. We discovered 10 PF4 mutants that can differentiate VITT from HIT in an EIA and we also discovered 6 PF4 mutants that can differentiate HIT from non-HIT. We found that all 10 PF4 mutants selected were able to differentiate VITT from HIT. We found that although the binding ability of the antibodies in about half of the HIT samples against the 10 PF4 mutants was affected while the other half did not lose their binding ability against the PF4 mutants. The difference was not similarly evident as seen with VITT antibodies against the 10 PF4 mutants where all the VITT patient samples lost more than 50% reactivity against each corresponding PF4 mutant when compared to wildtype (Figure 3). This could be explained by the effect that antibody clonality in HIT and VITT have on binding. HIT antibodies are likely polyclonal in nature, constituting their ability to bind to multiple amino acids on PF4 to trigger an immune response whereas VITT antibodies are defined by their monoclonal/oligoclonal characteristics and high affinity for 8 specific amino acids on PF4.

This relevance of these 10 PF4 mutants has important laboratory and clinical implications concerning both diseases. There is an unmet need for the development of antigen tests that would reliably be able to differentiate between VITT and HIT antibodies. From a clinical perspective, although reported incidences of VITT remain low, VITT can be debilitating or even fatal if left

untreated.¹ The current screening test for VITT is an EIA that is similarly used to help diagnose patients with HIT, these EIAs are positive in patients with VITT with a specificity as high as 96%.⁸¹ Currently, the only way to distinguish a confirmed diagnosis of VITT from that of HIT, is through a modified functional PF4-enhanced SRA, however treatment has been recommended to start before diagnosis has been confirmed, likely due to the longer turnaround time of 1-3 days for the SRA as opposed to the shorter turnaround time and cost-efficiency that EIAs provide.^{1,2} As of now, any presumptive diagnosis of VITT by clinicians is promptly initiated with VITT-appropriate treatment, however presumptive clinical diagnoses made by clinicians lead to false-positives and unnecessary treatment.² Based on our analyses of suspected VITT samples sent in based on presumptive diagnoses by physicians, we have found that very few "suspected VITT" patients are positive for VITT once confirmed diagnostically.⁸¹ Therefore, increased reporting will help us to provide clinicians with faster and more reliable results for the appropriate treatment to be administered. Given that we do not know the trigger for anti-PF4 antibody development in diseases like HIT, spontaneous HIT and VITT, it is important to identify and distinguish those that are pathogenic and seen in VITT from those that are non-pathogenic and seen in non-pathogenic HIT. This is because such studies have potential when screening for future VITT-like responses that may arise from adenoviral infections.

Being able to differentiate between HIT and VITT is important from a vaccine epidemiology perspective as this would inform strategies for risks associated with platelet-activating immune complexes¹¹⁹ and risks regarding any future vaccinations that COVID-19 patients may need to receive. ^{71,82,88} An easily accessible assay that differentiates VITT from HIT would allow us to narrow the focus on VITT alone to discover the origin and risks associated with this immune response and give better insight on the best way to treat the disease. ⁸² A good example

of this assays' potential utility is the fact there are already preliminary indications that heparin may be a safe and valid treatment option for VITT patients since IVIG itself is potentially prothrombotic,¹²⁰ whereas heparin can be fatal in HIT. The lack of heparin-enhanced platelet activating properties permits treatment with heparin in VITT patients, of whom many experience CVST and secondary hemorrhages.^{121,122} Separation between the two disorders could yield important insights regarding PF4 mediated antibody pathologies and lead to better and more optimized treatment options. Furthermore, there is relevance in identifying PF4 mutants that differentiate between two disorders using samples that are positive for platelet-activating antibodies. Such an assay could also be useful in determining whether there are PF4 mutants that can distinguish platelet-activating antibodies from non-platelet activating antibodies found in HIT patients.⁵⁰ The rationale behind this idea lies in the fact that clinicians rely on presumptive diagnoses to begin treatment for VITT before receiving laboratory diagnostic confirmation, which can lead to many false-positive results and unnecessary treatment.⁸¹ A clinical rationale for an assay that can distinguish VITT from HIT is that the use of anticoagulants will be necessary to treat thrombosis, and while the use of heparin is contraindicated in treating HIT, the use of heparinassociated anticoagulants in VITT needs to be further studied as they have a potential clinical benefit for VITT patients.

5.2.1 Limitations while purifying and mapping heparin-independent and heparindependent antibodies from HIT patients

The premise behind affinity purifying HI and HD antibodies relies on previous studies that have identified pathogenic antibodies in HIT as having strong binding forces against PF4/heparin and PF4 complexes.^{24,64} It has also been shown that there are similarities between the binding sites in HIT serum to HI and HD binding sites while using HIT serum and plasma samples and purified

total IgG from these samples.^{1,2} We expected that the serum of a patient with autoimmune HIT would contain both HD and HI antibodies, and that the HI would recognize a site like the heparin binding site on PF4, meanwhile the HD antibodies would recognize a site like the KKO binding site on PF4.. However, the pathogenic antibodies specific for HIT only make up a small percentage of the total amount of antibodies found in a HIT sample, therefore, purifying the HI and HD antibodies using affinity purification allows us to better observe the different classes from each other.^{24,52,71} With these caveats in consideration, my project also focused on using various methods of affinity purification to obtain HI and HD HIT antibodies from the samples of HIT patients. This was done in hopes of better identifying the pathogenic epitopes that the pathogenic antibodies that are specific for HIT bind to on PF4 to cause HIT. In attempt to map the epitopes of the purified HI and HD antibodies from two HIT patients, I found that some of these antibodies recognize additional amino acids on PF4, making it difficult to identify the specific amino acids that exclusively make up the restricted epitopes of the HI from the HD antibodies. Detection of purified HI and HD antibodies in the EIA was also limited since we had low concentrations of sample obtained following affinity purification. This might be explained by suggestions that pathogenic HIT antibodies are present at a low concentration in the serum of HIT patients ^{50,123} and the more purification steps we apply, the more likely that there will be a loss of total antibodies obtained following elution. We were also limited by the amount of each sample available to purify the antibodies and map them. These are some of the limitations involved in our study and should be considered when selecting patient samples for future experiments.

6-Conclusion

This thesis focuses on differentiating between platelet factor 4 epitopes that bind heparininduced thrombocytopenia and vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia antibodies. Previously, the binding of antibodies from VITT patients identified was restricted to eight surface amino acids on PF4 that were all located within the heparin-binding site. These eight amino acids Suggesting a probable epitope for pathogenic VITT antibodies on PF4. Similarly, the binding of antibodies from HIT patients was restricted to two independent sites on PF4, suggesting the epitopes of pathogenic HIT antibodies are found within either of the two probable sites on PF4. This knowledge gave rise to questions like, "Do the VITT and HIT antibody epitopes on PF4 dictate their platelet activation profiles?" and despite similarities in their clinical manifestations and ability to recognize the same antigen (PF4), "How can we differentiate VITT from HIT for diagnosis?" The work described in this thesis addresses these questions and contributes to the growing knowledge on VITT, a rare blood disorder with a familiar clinical picture.

The experiments needed to address these research questions would require us to modify a previous assay by expressing and purifying 70 PF4 mutants produced by way of alanine-scanning mutagenesis. The previous assay used the bacterial lysate of the 70 PF4 mutants to map the epitopes of HIT antibodies. Although useful, this method reduced the testing population due to the high background reactivity between HIT antibodies and bacterial lysate. We used purified PF4 mutants to account for and omit the limitations involving background reactivity when using bacterial lysate. This body of work produced high yields of purified PF4 mutants for future experiments involving HIT and VITT.

With the 70 PF4 mutants purified, we were then able to identify the binding sites of HIT and VITT antibodies. Our work with alanine-scanning mutagenesis with PF4 mutants has helped to narrow the epitopes of pathogenic HIT and VITT antibodies to specific amino acids within restricted regions on PF4. Screening HIT patients samples and HIT-like monoclonal antibodies confirmed that although there is no single common epitope among pathogenic HIT antibodies because of their polyclonal nature, however, the epitopes that pathogenic antibodies bind to on PF4 are found within either of two different and distinguishable sites on PF4. The first site is similar to where KKO, a monoclonal antibody against PF4/heparin complexes binds to and the second site is found within the heparin binding site on PF4. Additional screening with VITT samples revealed that an additional 8 amino acids are part of a second VITT site for a small subset VITT patients on PF4. Following the identification of the sites for pathogenic antibodies in both HIT and VITT, we were able to identify 10 PF4 mutants that help to differentiate between HIT and VITT antibodies, as well as 6 PF4 mutants that help to differentiate between HIT and non-HIT antibodies in an EIA.

The importance of developing an assay that differentiates between HIT and VITT and an assay that differentiates between HIT and non-HIT patients provides implications on how we can better understand the pathogenesis of VITT and modify the biochemical structure of PF4 to increase the specificity of the EIA on a diagnostic level. Currently, the functional assays that can differentiate between these disorders are costly, cumbersome, and not widely available. EIAs on the other hand are easy-to-use and commercially available, making them ideal for diagnostic laboratories where functional assay testing for patient samples is unavailable. Ultimately, this would increase the turnaround time for disease diagnosis and improve patient treatment. The long-term aim for this project is to definitively state the molecular attribution of PF4 to the pathogenesis

of HIT and VITT, for instance, further research is needed to fully describe the conformational change of PF4 as it either binds to heparin to cause HIT and its possible association with adenoviral vector-based vaccines to cause VITT. To understand the role that vaccines play in the pathogenesis of VITT, the amino acids involved in the interaction between VITT antibodies and PF4 should be analyzed in the presence of adenoviral vector-based vaccines. This aim will inform key concepts in the mechanism of VITT antibodies and any vaccine-associated blood disorders that may arise in the future.

FIGURES







Figure 2. SDS-PAGE showing the expression of wildtype PF4 and PF4 mutants following induction with IPTG. Lane 1 represents protein ladder standards. Lanes 2-6 show cultures of (Lane 2) Wildtype PF4 Lanes 3-6) and PF4 mutants E2A-E5A were grown in BL21 (DE3) at 37°C for 3 hours before being induced by the addition of 0.5 mM IPTG.



Figure 3. SDS-PAGE following purification of rhPF4 from E. coli using affinity

chromatography. shows the corresponding for the heparin column purification of recombinant PF4. MW represents protein ladder standards. Lane 2 represents supernatant (SN) containing miscellaneous proteins and contaminants separated from the rhPF4 that was in the supernatant. Lane 3 represents Hep Wash containing the proteins removed from the column at 0.5M NaCl. Lane 4 represents samples containing purified fractions of PF4 that were contaminant free. The arrowhead indicates protein band that corresponds to rhPF4 (approx. 7.8kDa). All protein samples were run on a denaturing 18% SDS-polyacrylamide gel.





Figure 4. SDS-PAGE following purification of PF4 mutants from heparin columns using affinity chromatography. Lane 1 in A and MW in Figure B represents protein ladder standards. Lanes 2-11 in A and lanes 1-8 in B lanes 1-8 represent each of purified PF4 mutants E2A-C11A and L12A-Q19A, respectively. The arrowhead indicates protein band that corresponds to rhPF4 (approx. 7.8kDa). All protein samples were run on a denaturing 18% SDS-polyacrylamide gel.



Figure 5. Schematic diagram of steps involved in detecting PF4/heparin specific antibodies from HIT patients in an EIA. Biotinylated heparin is immobilized on wells pre-coated with streptavidin. Either wildtype PF4 or a PF4 mutant is then added to wells to bind heparin and form mutant PF4/heparin complexes This is then followed by the addition of HIT antibodies (ie. KKO, antibodies from HIT samples, and HIT-like monoclonal antibodies) and detected by a labelled secondary antibody.



KKO: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES HIT: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES Non-HIT: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES

Figure 6. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of HIT antibodies using alanine-scanning mutagenesis. Figure A) shows the binding site for antibodies from 10 HIT patients (colored blue). 4 amino acids in the binding site recognized by the antibodies in 10 HIT patients overlap with amino acids that makeup the KKO binding site on PF4. Figure B) shows the binding site of antibodies in 10 non-HIT patients, the amino acids identified were arbitrary and were not restricted to a particular region on PF4.






A. 1E12: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIAT KNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES
 B. 1C12: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES
 C. 2E1: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES

Figure 8. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of monoclonal HIT antibodies 1E12, 1C12, and 2E1 using alanine-scanning mutagenesis. A,B,C) Three humanized Fc monoclonal antibodies derived from mice with the ability to activate platelets in the presence and absence of heparin like HIT antibodies. A,B) the amino acids that comprise the binding site for 1E12 and 1C12 are located in the same region as the VITT binding site. C) the amino acids that comprise the binding site on PF4.



Figure 9. Binding of monoclonal AntibodiesP4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 to PF4/heparin

complexes in an enzyme immunoassay. The OD values from incubating each monoclonal antibody with wildtype PF4/heparin complexes at varying concentrations of 1.6 ug/mL, 3.3 ug/mL, 6.3 ug/mL, 12.5 ug/mL, 25 ug/mL, 50 ug/mL and 75 ug/mL are presented by dilution curves. The pre-established cut-off for positivity is indicated by the black dotted line. OD values equal to or above 0.45 are considered positive in binding to and recognizing PF4/heparin complexes, while values below 0.45 are considered negative. We observed positive OD values at varying concentrations of 1.6ugmL for P4B1 (black), 6.3ug/mL for P3D4 (blue) and P3E10 (purple). Suggesting P4B1 has a higher affinity for PF4/heparin complexes while suggesting that P3D4 and P3E10 have lower affinities for PF4/heparin complexes.



Figure 10. Statistical analysis of P4B1 from P3D4 and P3E10 at a concentration of 1.6 ug/mL in the EIA. We averaged the OD values from testing P4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 at concentrations of 1.6 ug/mL against PF4/heparin complexes and represented them as mean ± SD of 2 replicates. OD values equal to or above 0.45 are considered positive in binding to and recognizing PF4/heparin complexes, while values below 0.45 are considered negative. Mean OD values of 1.3, 0.2 and 0.2 were observed for P4B1, P3D4 and P3E10 at concentrations of 1.6 ug/mL, respectively. Suggesting P4B1 has a higher affinity for PF4/heparin complexes while suggesting that P3D4 and P3E10 have lower affinities for PF4/heparin complexes. Student's t-test was performed to determine the significant differences between P4B1 and P3D4, and P4B1 and P3E10. At a concentration of 1.6ug/mL, P4B1 could be distinguished from P3D4 and P3E10 with statistical significance ****p<0.0001,***p<0.0002.



A. P4B1: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES
 B. P3D4: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES
 C. P3E10: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES

Figure 11. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of monoclonal HIT antibodies P4B1, P3D4, and P3E10 using alanine-scanning mutagenesis. A,B,C) Three monoclonal antibodies derived from HIT patients that bind to and recognize PF4/heparin as an antigen in the EIA similar to HIT antibodies. A,B), P4B1 and P3D4 are monoclonal antibodies that have the ability to activate platelets in the presence of heparin similar to HIT antibodies. A,B the amino acids that comprise the binding site for P4B1 and P3D4 are located in the same region as the KKO binding site on PF4. C, the amino acids that comprise the binding site for P3E10 are outside the binding site for KKO on PF4.



Figure 12. Schematic diagram of steps involved in isolating heparin-independent (HI) and heparin-dependent (HD) HIT antibodies from patient samples by method of affinity purification. A subset of HIT patients tested positive for both HI antibodies that bind PF4 alone and HD antibodies that bind PF4/heparin. A PF4 affinity column and PF4/heparin affinity column were created to purify HI and HD antibodies directly from HIT patients, respectively.



Figure 13. Representative SDS-PAGE showing affinity purified immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies from HIT patients. Lanes 1 and 2 consist of the total amount of IgG purified from pre-screened HIT patients through a protein G column by method of affinity purification. The bands at 50 kDa indicate the heavy chains and the bands at 25 kDa indicate the light chains of purified IgG class antibodies.



Figure 14. Representative SDS-PAGE analysis of affinity purified heparin dependent (HD) and heparin independent (HI) specific antibodies from HIT patients. HI and HD antibodies were purified from the total amount of IgG previously by method of PF4 column and PF4/heparin column affinity purification, respectively. Lane 1 represents the protein ladder standards. Lane 2 consists of the HI antibodies obtained from the PF4 column and Lane 3 consists of the HD antibodies obtained from the PF4/heparin column. The bands at 50 kDa indicate the heavy chains and the bands at 25 kDa indicate the light chains of purified IgG class antibodies.



A. HD HIT Abs : EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES B. HI HIT Abs : EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES

Figure 15. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of heparindependent (HI) and heparin dependent (HD) and HIT antibodies using alanine-scanning mutagenesis. Figure A) shows the binding site comprised of 7 amino acids on PF4 for HI antibodies purified from 4 HIT patients (colored blue). The HI binding site shares a total of 3 amino acids with the monoclonal HIT antibodies 1C12 and 2E1 that display heparin-independent reactivity. Figure B) shows the binding site comprised of 6 amino acids on PF4 for HD antibodies purified from 4 HIT patients (colored pink). The HI binding site shares a total of 2 amino acids with the monoclonal HIT antibodies P3D4 and P4B1 that display heparinindependent reactivity.



KKO: EAEEDGDLQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES PF4-dependent: EAEEDGDQCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSLEVIKAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES

PF4 independent: EAEEDGD CCLCVKTTSQVRPRHITSL V KAGPHCPTAQLIATLKNGRKICLDLQAPLYKKIIKKLLES Figure 16. Identification of amino acids on PF4 that are critical for the binding of VITT antibodies using alanine-scanning mutagenesis. A, B) For VITT samples (n=14): A) the binding site (colored red) of the VITT patients with PF4-dependent activity aligns with the previously published VITT site by Huynh *et al.* and within the heparin binding region on PF4. B) a subset of VITT patient's samples (n=4) aligns with the amino acids of the published VITT sites with an additional 10 amino acids that align with the KKO site on PF4.

VITT (n = 9)
HIT (n = 22)



Figure 17. Selected PF4 mutants that differentiate VITT from HIT antibodies. The 10 PF4 mutants selected, are those of which the corresponding amino acids are important either for VITT antibody binding in the first alanine scanning mutagenesis screen (Figure 16) or the heparin binding on PF4. Each point represents the binding ability of VITT (n = 9) and HIT (n = 23) serum samples to 10 PF4 mutants (H23A, E28A, R20A, T26A, K46A, R49A, K50A, K62A, K65A, K66A) relative to wild-type PF4. These 10 mutants were found to have a significant difference in binding between VITT and HIT antibodies. Data reported as mean PF4 mutant binding relative to wild-type PF4 and error bars correspond to the standard deviation. Black closed circles represent the binding of VITT patient sera and the black open circles represent HIT patient sera. Student's t-test was performed to determine the significant differences between the two antibody groups. **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ***p<0.0001.



HIT (n=22) Non-HIT (n=12)

o

Figure 18. Selected PF4 mutants that differentiate HIT from non-HIT antibodies. The 10 PF4 mutants selected, are those of which the corresponding amino acids are important either for VITT antibody binding in the first alanine scanning mutagenesis screen (Figure 16) or the heparin binding on PF4. Each point represents the binding ability of HIT (n = 22) and HIT (n = 12) serum samples to 10 PF4 mutants (H23A, E28A, R20A, T26A, K46A, R49A, K50A, K62A, K65A, K66A) relative to wild-type PF4. 5 out of 10 of these mutants were found to have a significant difference in binding between HIT and non-HIT antibodies (H23A, T25A, R49A, K65A, K66A). Data reported as mean PF4 mutant binding relative to wild-type PF4 and error bars correspond to the standard deviation. Black closed circles represent the binding of HIT patient sera and the black open circles represent non-HIT patient sera. Student's t-test was performed to determine the significant differences between the two antibody groups. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001, ****p<0.001.

7 LIST OF TABLES Table 1. Key amino acids in PF4 for the binding of HIT antibodies (n=10).

Amino acids affected	Loss of binding compared to WT-PF4 (%)	Range (%)	# of HIT samples affected
L8	81.7	18.2-31.3	7/10
Q9	58.6	11.5-97.0	7/10
C10	80.6	11.2-25.4	9/10
K14	59.1	20.4-83.4	8/10
A32	50.0	18.5-111.6	6/10
C36	76.2	21.3-36.3	9/10
P37	52.9	17.1-98.0	7/10
L41	48.7	13.4-89.0	7/10
A43	60.5	17.3-81.5	8/10
L53	68.5	35.9-89.6	8/10
D54	61.5	17.9-24.5	8/10
L67	51.8	19.8-94.0	7/10

Patients	Serum (OD405-490nm)	Total IgG affinity purification yield (mg/mL)	Total IgG (OD405-490nm)	HI Abs (OD405-490nm)	HD Abs (OD405-490nm)
1	3.6	5.7	0.9	0.3	0.1
2	3.3	8.8	2.0	0.45	0.7
3	2.3	9.0	0.5	0.2	0.09
4	3.1	12.0	0.7	1.1	1.3

Table 2. Yield of total IgG antibody and EIA testing results following affinity purification of HD and HI antibodies from HIT patient serum samples.

Amino acids affected	Loss of binding compared to WT- PF4 (%)	Range (%)	# of VITT samples affected	Domains on protein
L8	61.2	29.3-48.2	9/10	Beta strand
R22	73.1	11.8-42.0	9/10	Alpha helix
H23	60.7	34.7-43.9	9/10	Alpha helix
E28	69.0	27.2-34.7	9/10	Beta strand
K46	55.2	44.0-45.6	9/10	Beta strand
N47	69.85	28.1-32.2	8/10	Beta strand
K50	74.6	20.0-31.0	10/10	Beta strand
K62	63.5	32.9-40.2	10/10	Alpha helix
K66	76.1	9.8-38.0	10/10	Alpha helix

Table 3. Key amino acids in PF4 for the binding of VITT antibodies from 10 VITT patients.

Patient Demographics	PF4-dependent	PF4-	Significance (p-
	(n=10)	independent	value
		(n=4)	
Female (%)	7/10 (70%)	3/10 (30%)	*
Mean Age (Range)	51 (30-65)	46 (43-48)	*
Vaccine Type			
ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 (AstraZeneca)	10/10 (100%)	3/4 (75%)	*
Ad26.COV2.S (Johnson &		1/4 (25%)	*
Johnson)			
Clinical Presentation			
Platelet counts	49.9	170.7	<0.001
Total Thrombosis	10/10 (100%)	3/3 (100%) ¶	*
Total Thrombocytopenia	10/10 (100%)	1/3 (33%)	*
(<150×10 ⁷ /L)	10/10 (100%)	2/2 (100%)	
Thrombocytopenia and	10/10 (100%)	3/3 (100%)	*
1 hrombosis	10/10 (100%)	1/2 (22.07)	
Thrombocytopenia alone	10/10 (100%)	1/3 (33%)	*
Thrombosis alone	10/10 (100%)	3/4 (75%)	*
Thrombotic Manifestations*			
Cerebral Venous Sinus	4/10 (40%)	2/4 (50%)	*
Thrombosis (CVST)			
Deep Vein Thrombosis (DVT)	2/10 (20%)	2/4 (50%)	*
Pulmonary Embolism (PE)	2/10 (20%)	2/4 (50%)	*

 Table 4. Clinical characteristics of PF4-dependent vs. PF4 independent VITT patient samples.

P<0.05 was considered statistically significant

J Change in denominator due to missing patient data

*Due to small sample size, hypothesis testing comparing significance could not be approximated for all groups

Amino acids affected	Loss of binding compared to WT-PF4 (%)	Range (%)	# of SRA pos VITT samples affected
C10	80.7	16.0-22.5	3/4
R22	75.8	17.0-31.4	4/4
H23	68.8	21.4-43.8	4/4
E28	82.6	11.3-29.3	4/4
130	83.7	10.3-25.8	4/4
A32	77.6	16.2-33.9	4/4
K46	67.3	18.5-46.9	3/4
K50	83.2	24.1-42.8	3/4
C52	66.6	20.6-37.7	4/4
L53	71.0	15.4-31.8	4/4
K62	79.0	28.3-38.3	4/4
K66	79.5	10.7-14.7	4/4
L67	66.8	13.1-49.1	4/4

Table 5. Key amino acids in PF4 for the binding of PF4-independent VITT antibodies (n=4)

Disorder	PF4 Mutants Total Number of patients affected (OD < 0.45)												
	H23A	R20A	T25A	E28A	K46A	R49A	K50A	K62A	K65A	K66A			
VITT	2/9	5/9	4/9	5/9	6/9	5/9	7/9	5/9	5/9	5/9			
(n=9)	(22.2%)	(55.6%)	(44.4%)	(55.6%)	(66.7%)	(55.6%)	(77.8%)	(55.6%)	(55.6%)	(55.6%)			
HIT	2/22	6/22	2/22	1/22	4/22	3/22	4/22	3/22	4/22	3/22			
(n=22)	(9.1%)	(41.0%)	(9.1%)	(4.5%)	(18.2%)	(13.6%)	(18.2%)	(13.6%)	(18.2%)	(13.6%)			
Non-HIT	3/12	7/12	5/12	2/12	4/12	5/12	2/12	3/12	6/12	4/12			
(n=12)	(25.0%)	(58.3%)	(41.7%)	(16.7%)	(33.3%)	(41.7%)	(16.7%)	(25.0%)	(50.0%)	(33.3%)			

Table 6. PF4 mutants that affected binding of VITT, HIT and non-HIT antibodies in an EIA.

Table 7. Statistical analysis of PF4 mutants that distinguish VITT, HIT and non-HIT patients from each other.

	PF4 Mutants											
	H23A	R20A	T25A	E28A	K46A	R49A	K50A	K62A	K65A	K66A		
PF4 Mutant separates VITT from HIT (Y/N)	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y		
VITT vs. HIT Significance (p- value)	<0.0001	0.0037	0.0007	<0.0001	0.0007	0.0013	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0009	<0.0001		
PF4 Mutant separates HIT from non-HIT (Y/N)	Y	N	Y	N	N	Y	N	Ν	Y	Y		
HIT vs. non-HIT Significance (p- value)												
	< 0.0001	0.9120	0.0032	0.4285	0.2009	0.0220	0.2734	0.8106	0.0100	0.0137		

Table 8. Standard EIA and SRA results of VITT patient samples against wild-type PF4 and PF4 mutants.

VITT Patients	PF4-SRA result (¹⁴ C-serotonin ≥	WT-PF4/heparin EIA	n Mutant PF4/heparin EIA Mean OD _{405-490nm} ± SD									
	20%)	$OD_{405-490nm}$ (OD ≥ 0.45)	H23A	R20A	T25A	E28A	K46A	R49A	K50A	K62A	K65A	K66A
Patient 1	Positive	1.721	1.7635	0.4005	0.5385	0.354	0.567	0.464	0.233	0.3175	0.4295	0.2975
Patient 2	Positive	1.812	0.3915	0.318	0.217	0.2795	0.1555	0.1935	0.249	0.321	0.188	0.31
Patient 3	Positive	2.182	2.085	0.3135	0.2945	0.4145	0.2055	0.2285	0.3165	0.4185	0.3025	0.3285
Patient 4	Positive	2.682	1.854	0.9215	0.1825	0.614	0.168	0.19	0.569	0.567	0.214	0.5
Patient 5	Positive	2.077	1.9295	0.394	0.1695	0.247	0.1035	0.1145	0.2395	0.2705	0.1105	0.2695
Patient 6	Positive	2.982	0.8265	0.832	0.644	0.708	0.36	0.618	0.509	0.453	0.6865	0.4365
Patient 7	Positive	2.527	0.822	0.305	1.206	0.679	0.4175	0.6805	0.227	0.397	0.937	0.599
Patient 8	Positive	2.143	0.85	0.544	0.786	0.36	1.142	0.3835	0.222	0.7855	0.5455	0.492
Patient 9	Positive	3.347	1.0945	0.627	1.423	0.908	1.3075	1.129	0.3215	0.4865	1.098	0.8115

Table 9. Standard SRA and EIA results of HIT patient samples against wild-type PF4 and PF4 mutants.

HIT Patients	Standard SRA result (¹⁴ C-	WT- PF4/heparin EIA					Mutant PF4 Mean OD ₄₀	/heparin EIA _{95-490nm} ± SD				
	serotonin ≥ 20%)	OD _{405-490nm} (OD ≥ 0.45)	H23A	R20A	T25A	E28A	K46A	R49A	K50A	K62A	K65A	K66A
Patient 1	Positive	0.6425	0.7085	0.178	0.1725	0.8995	0.2655	0.1385	0.1865	0.6095	0.1865	0.43
Patient 2	Positive	1.616	1.7865	0.8395	0.9275	1.648	0.979	0.813	1.296	1.9145	1.296	1.5135
Patient 3	Positive	1.7315	1.59	1.073	0.8445	1.333	0.871	0.7865	0.9955	1.811	0.9955	1.534
Patient 4	Positive	2.1	1.915	0.8595	0.849	1.769	0.779	0.986	0.8735	1.649	0.8735	1.8185
Patient 5	Positive	0.796	1.028	0.386	0.4585	0.576	0.888	0.579	0.966	0.726	0.966	0.671
Patient 6	Positive	1.836	1.292	0.4215	0.578	1.1315	0.549	0.844	0.998	1.087	0.998	1.365
Patient 7	Positive	1.3085	0.401	0.621	0.5285	1.0455	0.953	0.689	0.4255	0.7845	0.4255	0.7845
Patient 8	Positive	0.9465	0.6465	0.7125	0.5905	0.595	1.142	0.505	0.588	0.7855	0.588	0.553
Patient 9	Positive	1.3505	1.3075	0.8675	0.775	1.1535	1.1795	1.473	0.8675	1.283	0.8675	0.6245
Patient 10	Positive	2.4095	2.218	0.9875	1.6795	1.994	1.803	1.6285	1.6035	1.8555	1.6035	1.1195
Patient 11	Positive	1.582	1.2955	0.4295	0.9725	1.109	1.372	1.032	1.078	0.9645	1.078	0.977
Patient 12	Positive	2.348	1.604	1.576	1.312	1.236	1.1325	1.1945	0.853	1.42	0.853	1.3725
Patient 13	Positive	0.8105	0.874	0.4725	0.495	0.988	0.567	0.485	0.454	0.3175	0.454	0.5265
Patient 14	Positive	0.7095	0.7625	0.7805	0.988	0.836	0.1555	1.211	0.7855	0.321	0.7855	0.713
Patient 15	Positive	1.1915	1.1385	0.573	0.5855	0.8685	0.586	0.6915	0.6985	1.142	0.6985	1.261
Patient 16	Positive	1.643	1.652	0.542	0.8895	1.8455	1.266	1.0835	1.114	1.5235	1.114	1.547
Patient 17	Positive	0.66	0.643	0.685	1.1345	0.8495	1.1505	0.9485	0.822	0.4925	0.822	0.4125
Patient 18	Positive	1.2645	1.008	0.213	0.22	1.0765	0.3105	0.3575	0.3625	0.912	0.3625	1.107
Patient 19	Positive	1.788	1.679	0.966	1.511	2.156	1.5755	0.971	1.0945	1.613	1.0945	1.2555
Patient 20	Positive	2.2815	2.2045	1.4305	2.0775	2.188	1.783	1.383	1.741	1.9145	1.741	1.5065
Patient 21	Positive	0.4815	0.2885	0.196	1.87	0.309	0.418	0.2435	0.257	0.384	0.257	0.2855
Patient 22	Positive	1.9945	1.036	0.7125	1.4815	1.1625	1.499	0.7495	1.4935	1.3845	1.4935	1.2735

Table 10. Standard SRA and EIA results of non-HIT patient samples against wild-type PF4 and PF4 mutants.

Non-HIT Patients	Standard SRA result (¹⁴ C-serotonin ≥	WT-PF4/heparin EIA	Mutant PF4/heparin EIA Mean OD _{405-490nm} ± SD									
	20%)	$OD_{405-490nm}$ (OD ≥ 0.45)	H23A	R20A	T25A	E28A	K46A	R49A	K50A	K62A	K65A	K66A
Patient 1	Negative	1.271	1.7635	0.4005	0.7095	1.5745	0.756	0.517	1.2975	1.628	0.3245	1.1555
Patient 2	Negative	0.446	0.3915	0.318	0.3665	0.4165	0.3305	0.3415	0.3565	0.3665	0.4	0.3845
Patient 3	Negative	1.794	2.085	0.3135	0.297	1.637	0.2265	0.223	1.2465	1.3535	0.384	1.189
Patient 4	Negative	1.833	1.854	0.9215	0.6905	1.712	1.0695	1.117	0.879	1.2905	0.9425	1.4955
Patient 5	Negative	1.699	1.9295	0.394	0.316	1.706	0.511	0.5035	1.28	1.442	0.553	1.3975
Patient 6	Negative	0.822	0.8265	0.832	0.694	0.692	0.829	1.0635	0.804	0.786	0.8595	0.9555
Patient 7	Negative	0.691	0.315	0.305	0.49	0.754	0.4895	0.316	0.628	0.463	0.308	0.416
Patient 8	Negative	1.2595	0.85	0.544	0.716	1.1725	0.7305	0.622	0.7955	1.161	0.5645	0.793
Patient 9	Negative	1.0975	1.0945	0.627	0.8175	1.063	0.7395	0.887	0.921	0.979	0.826	0.7005
Patient 10	Negative	0.414	0.4325	0.204	0.2195	0.4465	0.297	0.2605	0.388	0.4055	0.254	0.2265
Patient 11	Negative	0.856	0.8555	0.497	0.6415	0.8635	0.6285	0.84	0.981	0.9855	0.8505	0.469
Patient 12	Negative	0.4025	0.3615	0.215	0.2465	0.571	0.2845	0.3215	0.504	0.434	0.2465	0.294

REFERENCES:

1. Ma AD, Abrams CS. Pleckstrin homology domains and phospholipid-induced cytoskeletal reorganization. *Thromb Haemost*. 1999;82(2):399-406.

2. Sharda A, Flaumenhaft R. The life cycle of platelet granules. *F1000Res*. 2018;7:236.

3. Structural Genomics C, China Structural Genomics C, Northeast Structural Genomics C, et al. Protein production and purification. *Nat Methods*. 2008;5(2):135-146.

4. Shattil SJ, Newman PJ. Integrins: dynamic scaffolds for adhesion and signaling in platelets. *Blood*. 2004;104(6):1606-1615.

5. Coller BS, Shattil SJ. The GPIIb/IIIa (integrin alphallbbeta3) odyssey: a technology-driven saga of a receptor with twists, turns, and even a bend. *Blood*. 2008;112(8):3011-3025.

6. Bennett JS, Vilaire G. Exposure of platelet fibrinogen receptors by ADP and epinephrine. *J Clin Invest*. 1979;64(5):1393-1401.

7. Valizadeh A, Majidinia M, Samadi-Kafil H, Yousefi M, Yousefi B. The roles of signaling pathways in liver repair and regeneration. *J Cell Physiol*. 2019.

8. Cushman M. Epidemiology and risk factors for venous thrombosis. *Semin Hematol*. 2007;44(2):62-69.

9. Matzdorff A, Wormann B. [Diagnosis and Therapy of Immune thrombocytopenia]. *Dtsch Med Wochenschr*. 2018;143(15):1076-1081.

10. Botero JP, Lee K, Branchford BR, et al. Glanzmann thrombasthenia: genetic basis and clinical correlates. *Haematologica*. 2020;105(4):888-894.

11. Griffith GC, Boggs RP. The Clinical Usage of Heparin. *Am J Cardiol*. 1964;14:39-46.

12. Kelton JG, Warkentin TE. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: a historical perspective. *Blood*. 2008;112(7):2607-2616.

13. Nicolas D, Nicolas S, Hodgens A, Reed M. Heparin Induced Thrombocytopenia. StatPearls. Treasure Island (FL); 2022.

14. Delcea M, Greinacher A. Biophysical tools to assess the interaction of PF4 with polyanions. *Thromb Haemost*. 2016;116(5):783-791.

15. Fathi M. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia (HIT): Identification and treatment pathways. *Glob Cardiol Sci Pract*. 2018;2018(2):15.

16. Warkentin TE, Sheppard JA, Moore JC, Cook RJ, Kelton JG. Studies of the immune response in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 2009;113(20):4963-4969.

17. Barrowcliffe TW. History of heparin. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*. 2012(207):3-22.

18. Amiral J, Wolf M, Fischer A, Boyer-Neumann C, Vissac A, Meyer D. Pathogenicity of IgA and/or IgM antibodies to heparin-PF4 complexes in patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Br J Haematol*. 1996;92(4):954-959.

19. Boes M. Role of natural and immune IgM antibodies in immune responses. *Mol Immunol*. 2000;37(18):1141-1149.

20. Greinacher A, Kohlmann T, Strobel U, Sheppard JA, Warkentin TE. The temporal profile of the anti-PF4/heparin immune response. *Blood*. 2009;113(20):4970-4976.

21. Khandelwal S, Arepally GM. Immune pathogenesis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost*. 2016;116(5):792-798.

22. Amiral J, Bridey F, Wolf M, et al. Antibodies to macromolecular platelet factor 4-heparin complexes in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: a study of 44 cases. *Thromb Haemost*. 1995;73(1):21-28.

23. Ahmed I, Majeed A, Powell R. Heparin induced thrombocytopenia: diagnosis and management update. *Postgrad Med J.* 2007;83(983):575-582.

24. Nguyen TH, Medvedev N, Delcea M, Greinacher A. Anti-platelet factor 4/polyanion antibodies mediate a new mechanism of autoimmunity. *Nat Commun.* 2017;8:14945.

25. Padmanabhan A, Jones CG, Pechauer SM, et al. IVIg for Treatment of Severe Refractory Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. *Chest*. 2017;152(3):478-485.

26. Kowalska MA, Rauova L, Poncz M. Role of the platelet chemokine platelet factor 4 (PF4) in hemostasis and thrombosis. *Thromb Res.* 2010;125(4):292-296.

27. Lapchak PH, Ioannou A, Rani P, et al. The role of platelet factor 4 in local and remote tissue damage in a mouse model of mesenteric ischemia/reperfusion injury. *PLoS One*. 2012;7(7):e39934.

28. Staibano P, Arnold DM, Bowdish DM, Nazy I. The unique immunological features of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Br J Haematol*. 2017;177(2):198-207.

29. Levine SP, Sorenson RR, Harris MA, Knieriem LK. The effect of platelet factor 4 (PF4) on assays of plasma heparin. *Br J Haematol*. 1984;57(4):585-596.

30. Ilyina E, Mayo KH. Multiple native-like conformations trapped via self-associationinduced hydrophobic collapse of the 33-residue beta-sheet domain from platelet factor 4. *Biochem J.* 1995;306 (Pt 2):407-419.

31. Stuckey JA, St Charles R, Edwards BF. A model of the platelet factor 4 complex with heparin. *Proteins*. 1992;14(2):277-287.

32. Ziporen L, Li ZQ, Park KS, et al. Defining an antigenic epitope on platelet factor 4 associated with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 1998;92(9):3250-3259.

33. Kreimann M, Brandt S, Krauel K, et al. Binding of anti-platelet factor 4/heparin antibodies depends on the thermodynamics of conformational changes in platelet factor 4. *Blood*. 2014;124(15):2442-2449.

34. Krauel K, Potschke C, Weber C, et al. Platelet factor 4 binds to bacteria, [corrected] inducing antibodies cross-reacting with the major antigen in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 2011;117(4):1370-1378.

35. Hang TC, Tedford NC, Reddy RJ, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and platelet (PF-4) factor 4 inputs modulate human microvascular endothelial signaling in a threedimensional matrix migration context. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. 2013;12(12):3704-3718.

36. Brandt E, Ludwig A, Petersen F, Flad HD. Platelet-derived CXC chemokines: old players in new games. *Immunol Rev.* 2000;177:204-216.

37. Chesterman CN, McGready JR, Doyle DJ, Morgan FJ. Plasma levels of platelet factor 4 measured by radioimmunoassay. *Br J Haematol*. 1978;40(3):489-500.

38. Rosales C. Neutrophil: A Cell with Many Roles in Inflammation or Several Cell Types? *Front Physiol.* 2018;9:113.

39. Deuel TF, Senior RM, Chang D, Griffin GL, Heinrikson RL, Kaiser ET. Platelet factor 4 is chemotactic for neutrophils and monocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1981;78(7):4584-4587.

40. Gollomp K, Kim M, Johnston I, et al. Neutrophil accumulation and NET release contribute to thrombosis in HIT. *JCI Insight*. 2018;3(18).

41. Shriver Z, Capila I, Venkataraman G, Sasisekharan R. Heparin and heparan sulfate: analyzing structure and microheterogeneity. *Handb Exp Pharmacol*. 2012(207):159-176.

42. Hirsh J, Anand SS, Halperin JL, Fuster V. Mechanism of action and pharmacology of unfractionated heparin. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2001;21(7):1094-1096.

43. Cai Z, Yarovoi SV, Zhu Z, et al. Atomic description of the immune complex involved in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Nat Commun*. 2015;6:8277.

44. Amiral J, Bridey F, Dreyfus M, et al. Platelet factor 4 complexed to heparin is the target for antibodies generated in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost*. 1992;68(1):95-96.

45. Bakchoul T, Greinacher A, Warkentin TE. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in 2017 and beyond. *Thromb Haemost*. 2016;116(5):781-782.

46. Nazy I, Sachs UJ, Arnold DM, et al. Recommendations for the clinical and laboratory diagnosis of VITT against COVID-19: Communication from the ISTH SSC Subcommittee on Platelet Immunology. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2021;19(6):1585-1588.

47. Pishko AM, Fardin S, Lefler DS, et al. Prospective comparison of the HEP score and 4Ts score for the diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood Adv*. 2018;2(22):3155-3162.

48. Warkentin TE, Sheppard JI, Moore JC, Sigouin CS, Kelton JG. Quantitative interpretation of optical density measurements using PF4-dependent enzyme-immunoassays. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2008;6(8):1304-1312.

49. Cuker A. Clinical and laboratory diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: an integrated approach. *Semin Thromb Hemost.* 2014;40(1):106-114.

50. Nazi I, Arnold DM, Warkentin TE, Smith JW, Staibano P, Kelton JG. Distinguishing between anti-platelet factor 4/heparin antibodies that can and cannot cause heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2015;13(10):1900-1907.

51. Vayne C, Guery EA, Kizlik-Masson C, et al. Beneficial effect of exogenous platelet factor 4 for detecting pathogenic heparin-induced thrombocytopenia antibodies. *Br J Haematol*. 2017;179(5):811-819.

52. Huynh A, Arnold DM, Kelton JG, et al. Characterization of platelet factor 4 amino acids that bind pathogenic antibodies in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2019;17(2):389-399.

53. Greinacher A, Michels I, Kiefel V, Mueller-Eckhardt C. A rapid and sensitive test for diagnosing heparin-associated thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost*. 1991;66(6):734-736.

54. Leytin V, Mody M, Semple JW, Garvey B, Freedman J. Quantification of platelet activation status by analyzing P-selectin expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*. 2000;273(2):565-570.

55. Warkentin TE, Greinacher, A. Laboratory testing for VITT antibodies. *Semin Hematol.* 2022;59(2):8.

56. Warkentin TE, Kelton JG. A 14-year study of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Am J Med*. 1996;101(5):502-507.

57. Kelton JG. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: an overview. *Blood Rev*. 2002;16(1):77-80.

58. Lo GK, Sigouin CS, Warkentin TE. What is the potential for overdiagnosis of heparininduced thrombocytopenia? *Am J Hematol*. 2007;82(12):1037-1043. 59. Warkentin TE, Sheppard JA, Horsewood P, Simpson PJ, Moore JC, Kelton JG. Impact of the patient population on the risk for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 2000;96(5):1703-1708.

60. Crespo EM, Oliveira GB, Honeycutt EF, et al. Evaluation and management of thrombocytopenia and suspected heparin-induced thrombocytopenia in hospitalized patients: The Complications After Thrombocytopenia Caused by Heparin (CATCH) registry. *Am Heart J*. 2009;157(4):651-657.

61. Warkentin TE, Sheppard JI. Generation of platelet-derived microparticles and procoagulant activity by heparin-induced thrombocytopenia IgG/serum and other IgG platelet agonists: a comparison with standard platelet agonists. *Platelets*. 1999;10(5):319-326.

62. Warkentin TE, Hayward CP, Boshkov LK, et al. Sera from patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia generate platelet-derived microparticles with procoagulant activity: an explanation for the thrombotic complications of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 1994;84(11):3691-3699.

63. Nazy I, Clare R, Staibano P, et al. Cellular immune responses to platelet factor 4 and heparin complexes in patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2018;16(7):1402-1412.

64. Greinacher A, Selleng K, Warkentin TE. Autoimmune heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2017;15(11):2099-2114.

65. Krauel K, Weber C, Brandt S, et al. Platelet factor 4 binding to lipid A of Gram-negative bacteria exposes PF4/heparin-like epitopes. *Blood*. 2012;120(16):3345-3352.

66. Warkentin TE, Basciano PA, Knopman J, Bernstein RA. Spontaneous heparin-induced thrombocytopenia syndrome: 2 new cases and a proposal for defining this disorder. *Blood*. 2014;123(23):3651-3654.

67. Suh JS, Aster RH, Visentin GP. Antibodies from patients with heparin-induced thrombocytopenia/thrombosis recognize different epitopes on heparin: platelet factor 4. *Blood*. 1998;91(3):916-922.

68. Horsewood P, Warkentin TE, Hayward CP, Kelton JG. The epitope specificity of heparininduced thrombocytopenia. *Br J Haematol*. 1996;95(1):161-167.

69. Li ZQ, Liu W, Park KS, et al. Defining a second epitope for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia/thrombosis antibodies using KKO, a murine HIT-like monoclonal antibody. *Blood*. 2002;99(4):1230-1236.

70. Lefevre F, Remy MH, Masson JM. Alanine-stretch scanning mutagenesis: a simple and efficient method to probe protein structure and function. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 1997;25(2):447-448.

71. Huynh A, Kelton JG, Arnold DM, Daka M, Nazy I. Antibody epitopes in vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopaenia. *Nature*. 2021;596(7873):565-569.

72. Vayne C, Nguyen TH, Rollin J, et al. Characterization of New Monoclonal PF4-Specific Antibodies as Useful Tools for Studies on Typical and Autoimmune Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost*. 2021;121(3):322-331.

73. Greinacher A, Thiele T, Warkentin TE, Weisser K, Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCov-19 Vaccination. *N Engl J Med*. 2021;384(22):2092-2101.

74. Schultz NH, Sorvoll IH, Michelsen AE, et al. Thrombosis and Thrombocytopenia after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Vaccination. *N Engl J Med*. 2021;384(22):2124-2130.

75. Scully M, Singh D, Lown R, et al. Pathologic Antibodies to Platelet Factor 4 after ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 Vaccination. *N Engl J Med*. 2021;384(23):2202-2211.

76. Coronavirus vaccine - weekly summary of Yellow Card reporting. Yellow Card Reporting: Government of the United Kingdom; 2022.

77. See I, Lale A, Marquez P, et al. Case Series of Thrombosis With Thrombocytopenia Syndrome After COVID-19 Vaccination-United States, December 2020 to August 2021. *Ann Intern Med*. 2022.

78. Greinacher A, Schonborn L, Siegerist F, et al. Pathogenesis of vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT). *Semin Hematol*. 2022;59(2):97-107.

79. Singh B, Kanack A, Bayas A, et al. Anti-PF4 VITT antibodies are oligoclonal and variably inhibited by heparin. *medRxiv*. 2021.

80. Warkentin TE, Makris M, Jay RM, Kelton JG. A spontaneous prothrombotic disorder resembling heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Am J Med*. 2008;121(7):632-636.

81. Bissola AL, Daka M, Arnold DM, et al. The clinical and laboratory diagnosis of vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Blood Adv*. 2022.

82. Kanack AJ, Singh B, George G, et al. Persistence of Ad26.COV2.S-associated vaccineinduced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia (VITT) and specific detection of VITT antibodies. *Am J Hematol*. 2022;97(5):519-526.

83. Craven B, Lester W, Boyce S, et al. Natural history of PF4 antibodies in vaccine-induced immune thrombocytopenia and thrombosis. *Blood*. 2022;139(16):2553-2560.

84. Pavord S, Scully M, Hunt BJ, et al. Clinical Features of Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombocytopenia and Thrombosis. *N Engl J Med*. 2021;385(18):1680-1689.

85. Migita K, Asano T, Sato S, Motokawa S. Induction of anti-PF4/heparin antibodies after arthroplasty for rheumatic diseases. *Fukushima J Med Sci*. 2018;64(1):1-8.

86. Fujita M, Maeda T, Miyata S, et al. Association of trauma severity with antibody seroconversion in heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: A multicenter, prospective, observational study. *J Trauma Acute Care Surg*. 2022;93(3):402-408.

87. Reilly MP, Taylor SM, Hartman NK, et al. Heparin-induced

thrombocytopenia/thrombosis in a transgenic mouse model requires human platelet factor 4 and platelet activation through FcgammaRIIA. *Blood*. 2001;98(8):2442-2447.

88. Huynh A, Arnold DM, Michael JV, et al. Characteristics of VITT antibodies in patients vaccinated with Ad26.COV2.S. *Blood Adv*. 2022.

89. Kelton JG, Arnold DM, Nazy I. Lessons from vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Nat Rev Immunol*. 2021;21(12):753-755.

90. Newman PM, Chong BH. Further characterization of antibody and antigen in heparininduced thrombocytopenia. *Br J Haematol*. 1999;107(2):303-309.

91. Greinacher A, Potzsch B, Amiral J, Dummel V, Eichner A, Mueller-Eckhardt C. Heparinassociated thrombocytopenia: isolation of the antibody and characterization of a multimolecular PF4-heparin complex as the major antigen. *Thromb Haemost*. 1994;71(2):247-251.

92. Padmanabhan A, Jones CG, Bougie DW, et al. Heparin-independent, PF4-dependent binding of HIT antibodies to platelets: implications for HIT pathogenesis. *Blood*. 2015;125(1):155-161.

93. Satoh T, Tanaka Y, Okazaki Y, Kaburaki J, Ikeda Y, Kuwana M. Heparin-dependent and independent anti-platelet factor 4 autoantibodies in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2012;51(9):1721-1728.

94. Joint CDC and FDA Statement on Johnson & Johnson COVID-19 Vaccine: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2021.

95. Sheridan D, Carter C, Kelton JG. A diagnostic test for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 1986;67(1):27-30.

96. Thiele T, Weisser K, Schonborn L, et al. Laboratory confirmed vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia: Retrospective analysis of reported cases after vaccination with ChAdOx-1 nCoV-19 in Germany. *Lancet Reg Health Eur.* 2022;12:100270.

97. Rubino JG, Arnold DM, Warkentin TE, Smith JW, Kelton JG, Nazy I. A comparative study of platelet factor 4-enhanced platelet activation assays for the diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2021;19(4):1096-1102.

98. Huynh A, Arnold DM, Moore JC, Smith JW, Kelton JG, Nazy I. Development of a highyield expression and purification system for platelet factor 4. *Platelets*. 2018;29(3):249-256.

99. Mayo KH, Ilyina E, Roongta V, et al. Heparin binding to platelet factor-4. An NMR and site-directed mutagenesis study: arginine residues are crucial for binding. *Biochem J*. 1995;312 (Pt 2):357-365.

100. Onwuemene O, Arepally GM. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia: research and clinical updates. *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program*. 2016;2016(1):262-268.

101. de Jong HK, van der Poll T, Wiersinga WJ. The systemic pro-inflammatory response in sepsis. *J Innate Immun*. 2010;2(5):422-430.

102. Greinacher A, Selleng K, Palankar R, et al. Insights in ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine-induced immune thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 2021;138(22):2256-2268.

103. Tiede A, Sachs UJ, Czwalinna A, et al. Prothrombotic immune thrombocytopenia after COVID-19 vaccination. *Blood*. 2021;138(4):350-353.

104. Singh A, Toma F, Uzun G, et al. The interaction between anti-PF4 antibodies and anticoagulants in vaccine-induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 2022;139(23):3430-3438.

105. Warkentin TE. Heparin-Induced Thrombocytopenia and Vaccine-Induced Immune Thrombotic Thrombocytopenia Antibodies: Fraternal-Not Identical-Twins. *Thromb Haemost*. 2021;121(12):1558-1561.

106. Didovyk A, Tonooka T, Tsimring L, Hasty J. Rapid and Scalable Preparation of Bacterial Lysates for Cell-Free Gene Expression. *ACS Synth Biol.* 2017;6(12):2198-2208.

107. Juers DH, Matthews BW, Huber RE. LacZ beta-galactosidase: structure and function of an enzyme of historical and molecular biological importance. *Protein Sci.* 2012;21(12):1792-1807.

108. Kalnins A, Otto K, Ruther U, Muller-Hill B. Sequence of the lacZ gene of Escherichia coli. *EMBO J.* 1983;2(4):593-597.

109. Wingfield PT. Overview of the purification of recombinant proteins. *Curr Protoc Protein Sci.* 2015;80:6 1 1-6 1 35.

110. Arepally GM. Heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Blood*. 2017;129(21):2864-2872.

111. Wallis DE, Workman DL, Lewis BE, Steen L, Pifarre R, Moran JF. Failure of early heparin cessation as treatment for heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Am J Med*. 1999;106(6):629-635.

112. Bauer TL, Arepally G, Konkle BA, et al. Prevalence of heparin-associated antibodies without thrombosis in patients undergoing cardiopulmonary bypass surgery. *Circulation*. 1997;95(5):1242-1246.

113. Voysey M, Clemens SAC, Madhi SA, et al. Safety and efficacy of the ChAdOx1 nCoV-19 vaccine (AZD1222) against SARS-CoV-2: an interim analysis of four randomised controlled trials in Brazil, South Africa, and the UK. *Lancet*. 2021;397(10269):99-111.

114. Cuker A. Management of the multiple phases of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Thromb Haemost*. 2016;116(5):835-842.

115. Zhu C, Gao Y, Li H, et al. Characterizing hydrophobicity of amino acid side chains in a protein environment via measuring contact angle of a water nanodroplet on planar peptide network. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2016;113(46):12946-12951.

116. Chowell D, Krishna S, Becker PD, et al. TCR contact residue hydrophobicity is a hallmark of immunogenic CD8+ T cell epitopes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2015;112(14):E1754-1762.

117. Ye L, Zhang YP, Yu N, Jia YX, Wan SJ, Wang FY. Serum platelet factor 4 is a reliable activity parameter in adult patients with inflammatory bowel disease: A pilot study. *Medicine (Baltimore)*. 2017;96(11):e6323.

118. Rucinski B, Niewiarowski S, Strzyzewski M, Holt JC, Mayo KH. Human platelet factor 4 and its C-terminal peptides: heparin binding and clearance from the circulation. *Thromb Haemost*. 1990;63(3):493-498.

119. Nazy I, Jevtic SD, Moore JC, et al. Platelet-activating immune complexes identified in critically ill COVID-19 patients suspected of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2021;19(5):1342-1347.

120. Ruggeri ZM, Ruf W. Is VITT really a HIT. Nat Immunol. 2021;22(11):1352-1353.

121. Favaloro EJ, Pasalic L, Henry B, Lippi G. Laboratory testing for platelet factor 4 antibodies: differential utility for diagnosis/exclusion of heparin induced thrombocytopenia versus suspected vaccine induced thrombotic thrombocytopenia. *Pathology*. 2022;54(3):254-261.

122. Warkentin TE. Laboratory diagnosis of heparin-induced thrombocytopenia. *Int J Lab Hematol*. 2019;41 Suppl 1:15-25.

123. Nguyen TH, Wesche J, Raschke R, et al. Reactivity of platelet-activating and nonplateletactivating anti-PF4/heparin antibodies in enzyme immunosorbent assays under different conditions. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2019;17(7):1113-1119.